WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE
MEETING TO BE HELD AT 11.00 AM ON WEDNESDAY, 5 FEBRUARY
2020 IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50
WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

AGENDA
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

3.
3.

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE
PRESS AND PUBLIC
1.

To highlight Appendix 1 and 2 to Agenda Item 7 which officers have
identified as containing exempt information within the meaning of
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, and where officers
consider that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs
the public interest in disclosing the information, for the reasons outlined
in the report.

2.

To consider whether to accept the officers’ recommendation in respect
of the above information as set out paragraph 4.1 of Agenda Item 7.

3.

If the recommendation is accepted, to formally pass the following
resolution: -

RESOLVED – That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
to the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of Appendix 1 and 2 to Agenda Item 7on the grounds that
it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature
of the proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present there
would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons set out
in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

4.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE AND
YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE HELD ON 9 JANUARY

(Pages 1 - 4)

5.

CAPITAL SPEND AND PROJECT APPROVALS
(Pages 5 - 128)

6.

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK
(Pages 129 - 134)

7.

ESIF SUD
(Pages 135 - 144)

8.

MINUTES OF THE BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL HELD ON
THE 3 DECEMBER
(Pages 145 - 148)

Signed:

Director of Corporate Services
West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Agenda Item 4

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
HELD ON THURSDAY, 9 JANUARY 2020 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A,
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:
Roger Marsh OBE DL (Deputy Chair)

Leeds City Region Enterprise
Partnership
Kirklees Council
Leeds City Council
Bradford Council
Calderdale Council
City of York Council
Wakefield Council

Councillor Peter McBride
Councillor Jonathan Pryor
Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw
Councillor Jane Scullion
Councillor Andrew Waller
Councillor Darren Byford
In attendance:
Melanie Corcoran
Angela Taylor
Polly Hutton
Rachel Jones
Andrew Norman
Ian Pegg
Ben Kearns

West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority

42.

Apologies for Absence
There were no apologies for absence. Members welcomed Councillor Byford
to the Committee as it was his first meeting.

43.

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of pecuniary interests at the meeting.

44.

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no items which required the exemption of the press and public.

45.

Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee held on 4 December
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting of the Investment Committee held
of the 4 December be approved.

46.

Transport Fund Update
Members considered a report which summarised the review undertaken of the

1

West Yorkshire and York plus Transport Fund. The Transport Fund originally
included 33 named projects which has since increased to 82. The review
concluded that the level of funding required by each project was at a
manageable level.
Appendix 1 to the submitted report set out the revised funding baselines for
the Transport Fund projects. It was noted that the exercise had been useful
and agreed that an annual review of the Transport Fund would be carried out
in June.
Members were pleased with the detailed review and were satisfied that their
desire for clarity around projects had been met.
Resolved: That Investment Committee agrees the proposals set out in section
2.9 and recommends to the Combined Authority that the revised baseline
allocations for each project (Appendix 1 - Total Forecast Spend (£m) June
2019) and the revised programme dates for each project (Appendix 2) are
approved.
47.

Capital Spend and Project Approval
The Committee considered a report which set out proposals for the
progression of, and funding for, a number of West Yorkshire Combined
Authority supported projects, including West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund
(Transport Fund) and Local Growth Fund, for consideration by the Investment
Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the Combined Authority’s assurance
process.
Members discussed the proposals for the progression of the following
schemes which were detailed in the submitted report:





Leeds Transport Model Update 2020
York Outer Ring Road Phase 3
Bradford City Centre Heritage Properties Development Scheme
York Scarborough Bridge project

The Committee was also advised of the following decisions made through
delegations to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director since the last
meeting:


Corporate Technology Programme – CRM Improvements (package
E01)
Resolved:
(i)

That in respect of the Leeds Transport Model Update 2020 the
Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority:
(a)

That the Leeds Transport Model Update 2020 project proceeds
through Decision Point 2 and work commences on Activity 5 (full
business case with finalised costs).

(b)

That an indicative approval of £600,000 is given from the West

2

Yorkshire plus Transport Fund towards a total scheme cost of £1.2
million with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme
has progressed through the assurance process to Decision Point 5.
(c)

(ii)

(iii)

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at
Decision Point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

That in respect of the York Outer Ring Road Phase 3 project the
Investment Committee approved:
(a)

That the York Outer Ring Road Phase 3 project proceeds through
decision point 4 and work commences on activity 5 (full business
case with finalised costs).

(b)

That an indicative approval to phase 3 to the value of £2.174 million
is given from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund towards a
total scheme cost of £7.174 million with full approval to spend being
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(c)

That an indicative approval to the YORR programme to the value of
£38.378 million, an increase from £38.276 million, is given from the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund towards a total programme
cost of £44.216 million, an increase from £38.926 million.

(d)

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at
decision point 5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

That in respect of the Bradford City Centre Heritage Properties
Development Scheme that Investment Committee approved:
(a)

That the change request to the Bradford City Centre Heritage
Properties Development scheme to alter the scope and replace
original Property Two with the alternative heritage property is
approved.

(b)

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in this report following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within
the tolerances outlined in this report.

(iv) That in respect of the York Scarborough Bridge the Investment
Committee approved:

3

48.

(a)

That the change request to the York Scarborough Bridge project
to enhance the original scheme, increase the Combined Authority
contribution by £280,000 and increase the timeframe to March
2021 is approved.

(b)

That the Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the
existing funding agreement with York Council for additional
expenditure of up to £280,000 from the Transforming Cities Fund.

(c)

That future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance
pathway and approval route outlined in this report following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining
within the tolerances outlined in this report.

Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 3 December
Resolved: That the minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 3
December be noted.

4

Agenda Item 5

Report to:

West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date:

5 February 2020

Subject:

Capital Spending and Project Approvals

Director:

Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s):

Ian Pegg

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

To put forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a number of
West Yorkshire Combined Authority supported projects, including West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and Growth Fund, for
consideration by the Investment Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the
Combined Authority’s assurance process.

1.2

The Investment Committee has delegated decision making authority, this was
approved by the Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. Where
Investment Committee is asked to make an approval decision this will be
highlighted in the summary table and made clear in the recommendations

2

Integrated Clean Growth

2.1

Through the Assurance Framework and other internal decision-making
procedures, the Combined Authority will review and embed clean growth
considerations into our activities.

2.2

Building on the recent work to strengthen how clean growth and climate
change impacts are considered as part of all new schemes that come through
the Combined Authority’s Assurance Framework (Decision point 1 and 2), the
Combined Authority are now in the process of procuring expert advice to
frame and develop a robust quantifiable methodology for assessing all new
scheme’s predicted carbon emissions / wider clean growth impacts.

2.3

Clean growth, including climate change, impact assessment / considerations
are all now included in all Capital Spending and Project Approvals reports.

3

Report

3.1

This report presents proposals for the progression of 10 schemes through the
Combined Authority’s assurance process in line with the Leeds City Region

5

Assurance Framework. These schemes have a total combined funding value
of £167.124 million when fully approved, of which the total value of £91.647
million will be funded by the Combined Authority. Further details on the
schemes are summarised below and can be found as part of this report.
3.2

The Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) for some of the schemes in this report
potentially represent low value for money when assessed using TAG, the
Department for Transport’s guidance on the appraisal of transport schemes.
This is because whilst calculating benefits to costs of a transport scheme there
are many more journeys made by car than are made by bus and as a
consequence the monetised benefits arising from improvements to bus
journeys may be outweighed by the monetised dis-benefits to car users.

3.3

However, a key strategic objective of investment is to encourage modal switch
to more sustainable modes in alignment with the priorities of the Strategic
Economic Plan (SEP). Therefore whilst the ‘core’ BCR (i.e. following Green
Book guidance on total impact on the society as a whole) for some schemes
may be low, discounting the dis-benefits to car users from the appraisal will
result in a higher BCR and where possible this ‘range of BCR’ will be
presented to support decision making.
Scheme

Scheme description

York City Centre
Access Improvements

This scheme will contribute to the redevelopment of the Castle
Gateway area in the south eastern quarter of York City Centre.
This scheme will support the delivery of the Castle Gateway
Masterplan by repurposing public space, improving accessibility
for pedestrians and cyclists and increasing active mode travel.

York

The scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund.
Impact
This scheme will lead to an increase in cycling, walking and bus
usage around the Castle Gateway area of York City Centre, with
associated health and environmental benefits. It will improve
connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists into the city centre and
provide improvements for safety and accessibility.
Details on the schemes benefit cost ratio will be provided at the
next stage of the assurance process.
Benefits will be realised from increases in pedestrian and cycle
use of the Castle Gateway area, journey time savings due to a
new river crossing and additional revenue from renting out
space on the Castle car park site.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 2 (strategic outline
case) and work commences on activity 3 (outline business
case).
Total value - £8.1 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £8.1 million
Funding recommendation sought - £355,000

6

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme
Leeds City Region
3.4
Future Mobility Zone
Leeds City Region

Scheme description
The Leeds City Region (LCR) Future Mobility Zone is a
programme designed to deliver a unique innovative package
which uses world class technologies to transform the mobility
offer for some of the hardest to reach urban and rural
communities.
It will deliver a step change in mobility focused on local needs,
place and people, particularly supporting communities where
improving access to mobility technology and services together
with new facilities can support Inclusive Growth
The total cost of the FMZ programme is £32.01 million and the
Combined Authority is seeking £27.28 million of this from the
Department for Transport. The Combined Authority will
contribute £3.513 million from the Local Transport Plan and
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme with the
remaining £1.22 million coming from partner councils.
Funding of £2.01 million is being sought from LTP and LPTIP
and DfT funding (subject to formal approval of the FMZ funding
by Government) to undertake development of the programme.
Impact
The FMZ programme is based on a series of innovative future
mobility interventions which aim to:





Remove barriers to transport and mobility access for
vulnerable groups and those people on low incomes.
Improve transport connectivity in poorly served rural areas
and provide more reliable journey times for hard to reach
communities.
Encourage modal shift from private cars to sustainable travel
options.
Improve local connectivity and access, particularly between
emerging centres of employment, education and mobility
services.

The FMZ programme will utilise new technologies to encourage
the transition to low carbon and sustainable mobility modes,
reducing transport related emissions and contributing to the City
Region achieving its ambition to be net zero carbon by 2038.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 2 (strategic outline
case) and work commences on the development of business
cases for individual schemes or packages
Total programme value - £32.01 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £30.793 million
Funding recommendation sought - £2.01 million
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.

7

Scheme

Scheme description

Hebden Bridge Flood
Alleviation

Hebden Bridge has a significant risk of flooding from the River
Calder, Hebden Water and the Rochdale Canal and in recent
years businesses and local communities have suffered multiple
flood events.

Calderdale

The Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation scheme will involve a
series of works to significantly improve flood resilience in the
area, with new/enhanced flood walls and barriers, and
associated drainage and other infrastructure improvements.
The design and delivery of the scheme is being led by the
Environment Agency on behalf of the Calderdale Flood
Partnership and construction is forecast to commence in May
2021 for completion in May 2023.
The Environment Agency has secured all match funding and the
Combined Authority will provide its funding through the Local
Growth Fund.
Impact
The scheme aims to increase the City Region’s resilience to
current and future climate change through the reduction of flood
risk to local business and communities.
It will reduce the risk of flooding in the area in any given year
from 20% to 2%, significantly improving the standard of flood
protection for homes, businesses and essential infrastructure in
the area, including rail, road, public transport, walking and
cycling links.
It will reduce flood risk to 183 homes and 231 businesses,
potentially safeguarding 700 jobs in the area, supporting the
delivery of Priority 3 (Clean Energy & Environmental Resilience)
4b (Infrastructure for Growth) and 4c (Flood Alleviation) of the
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP).
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business
case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case)
Total value - £27.28 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £1.9 million
Funding recommendation sought - £1.9 million
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Corn Exchange
Gateway

The scheme will deliver a series of improvements to bus,
pedestrian, and cycling infrastructures, as well as enhancements
to the public realm. The interventions will be delivered across
2.2km of public highway, comprising of Vicar Lane, New Market
Street, Kirkgate, and Meadow Lane.

Leeds

The scheme is to be funded by the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme (LPTIP) with a contribution from the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF).
Impact

8

The changes to highway and bus infrastructure will improve end
to end bus journey times and bus service reliability. Improved
pedestrian crossings and footpath widening measures will
enhance the walking provision. New protected cycle lanes and
cycle crossings will improve connectivity to the cycle network.
Provision of new green infrastructure and new public open
spaces will enhance the townscape and attractiveness of the city
centre to employers, residents, and visitors.
The strategic drivers for investment are in line with public
transport policies and strategies as per the LPTIP and WY+TF
funding programmes.
The scheme supports inclusive growth by improving access to
employment, education, and retail opportunities to those from
deprived or disconnected areas. The scheme also supports a
better quality of life by improving air quality in the city centre.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business
case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).
Total value of the scheme - £25.6 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £24.7 million
The additional £900,000 will come from a S106 developer
contribution
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Enterprise Zone: Parry
Lane

The Parry Lane scheme has been developed for delivery
through the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone programme.

Bradford

The scheme seeks to deliver site enabling and de-risking works
through securing outline planning permission, undertaking site
remediation and infrastructure works and deliver a signalised
junction and access route, to make development a more viable
proposition for the private sector, to be funded through the Local
Growth Fund (LGF).
Full site development is to be realised by working with the
private sector.
Impact
The Parry Lane site is anticipated to deliver up to 16,900 sqm of
commercial floorspace, capable of accommodating 489 jobs,
generating up to £166 million GVA, and a potential business
rates income of approximately £5.3 million over the period to
2042.
The scheme supports inclusive growth by developing land to
unlock employment opportunities for residents across West
Yorkshire and the City Region. Additionally, the scheme
supports the regeneration of a deprived area, enhancing the
local working environment.
Decisions sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business
case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

9

Total value of the scheme - £18.88 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £8.08 million
Funding recommendation sought - £540,000
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Leeds Inland Port

The scheme involves the construction of a new wharf port facility
at Stourton to enable the transportation of non-perishable freight
such as aggregates, timber, oil and steel from the Humber
estuary into Leeds. The scheme comprises:

Leeds



The construction of a 11,875sqm concrete apron on a
three-acre brownfield site in the Trust’s ownership to
enable aggregate storage, screening and distribution;



The installation of a basic mobile crane;



The installation of 80m of sheet piling to establish an
apron for boats to moor against;



The dredging of the waterway to improve the navigability
of the waterway at this point.

The scheme is to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund (WY+TF).
Impact
Once operational the port will move c200,000 tonnes of freight
from road to water after year one, resulting in reduced road
congestion. This will lead to the reduction of carbon emissions
from road vehicles by 894 tonnes by the end of year three
resulting in improved air quality for the Leeds City Region, and
create up to 16 new jobs, safeguard three jobs, and assist 25
businesses, thereby supporting economic growth in the region.
The project supports Strategic Economic Plan Priorities 1, 2, 3,
and 4.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business
case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).
Total value of the scheme - £3.37 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £3.17 million
Funding recommendation sought - £0
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Leeds Bradford
Airport Parkway

The Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway scheme will see delivery of
a new rail station on the Harrogate railway line and associated
access works and will serve as a rail interchange and parkway
function to the airport.

Leeds

The scheme is being developed through the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP).

10

Please note that the funding made available through this report
is to develop the final business case (FBC) only. A funding
strategy for delivery of the project will be set out in the FBC.
Impact
The scheme will support an increase in international connectivity
and the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)
economic growth ambitions by improving the public transport
access to and from the airport. Additionally, it is envisaged to
enhance access to jobs within the surrounding area as well as
the airport itself. This scheme supports the Leeds City Region
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) economic growth ambitions.
The scheme will also support a reduction in road congestion
levels and consequently improve air quality.
The value for money assessment reflects a benefit cost ratio of
4.3:1, judging the scheme as very high value for money when
assessed against the Department for Transport’s value for
money criteria.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (outline business
case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).
Total value of the scheme - £41.98 million (subject to a funding
strategy)
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £5 million
Funding recommendation sought - £4.5 million
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Network Navigation

Network Navigation (Leeds) is a standalone scheme within the
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) Bus
Delivery Package and, alongside the infrastructure works to
reduce bus journey times, is a key component in delivering the
target growth in bus use in the city.

Leeds

This scheme will provide a colour coded system to help people
unfamiliar with using the bus navigate the network in Leeds. The
scheme sits alongside various complimentary measures for
infrastructure within the LPTIP and TCF programmes
Once the Leeds Network is complete, the scheme will be rolled
out across the rest of West Yorkshire, subject to further funding.
Impact
The scheme presents a benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 3.76:1 which
represents a high value for money.
This scheme will improve transport accessibility and user
experience by providing a user-friendly and accessible network
map, linked to new colour coded bus stop flags and shelters.
This scheme has the potential to increase usage of the bus as
well provide some wider social benefits. This includes health and
economic benefits by supporting people to utilise public
transport mitigating social isolation, accessing employment and
training opportunities in the region.

11

Furthermore, increase in bus patronage mitigates the emissions
from private transport, supporting the clean growth agenda.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 3 (OBC) and
commence work on activity 5 (FBC+)
Total value - £1.8 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £1.8 million
Funding recommendation sought - £150,000
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Moorthorpe Rail Car
Park

This scheme will deliver a modern, reconfigured, and extended
car park at Moorthorpe rail station, increasing the free rail car
parking capacity to 102 spaces, including 6 blue badge bays.

Wakefield

The scheme is to be wholly funded by the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund.
Impact
The scheme will increase the parking capacity by 57 spaces,
enabling additional users’ access to secured parking at the rail
station, and to onward travel by rail, supporting the transport
fund policies and strategies.
The scheme will also deliver enhanced draining infrastructure,
CCTV, LED lighting, and provision of electrical ducting for two
future electric charging bays.
The value for money assessment reflects a benefit cost ratio
(BCR) of 2.8:1, judging the scheme as high value for money
when assessed against the Department for Transports value for
money criteria.
The scheme supports inclusive growth principle of a better
quality of life by increasing the access to jobs, education, and
retail through a more sustainable transport mode, and in the
process reducing road traffic congestion, supporting ambitions to
improve air quality.
Decision sought
Approval to proceed through decision point 5 (full business case
plus costs) and work commences on activity 6 (delivery).
Total value of the scheme - £778,551
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £778,551
Funding recommendation sought - £778,551
A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought as part
of this report.
Scheme

Scheme description

Superfast Broadband
West Yorkshire and
York Contract 3

Superfast Broadband West Yorkshire and York (SBWYY)
Contract 3 programme aims to deliver fast and reliable
broadband infrastructure in some of the hardest to reach areas
of market failure which are not currently on the targeted through

12

West Yorkshire and
York

a commercial roll out or were not targeted by previous phase
(Contract 2) across the West Yorkshire and York geography.
The scheme will deliver superfast broadband connectivity of at
least 30 megabits per second (mpbs) to eligible Small and
Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) premises within eligible post
code areas (referred to as ‘white postcodes’) in West Yorkshire
and York, facilitating growth and support in the wider city region.
The scheme is funded from the Department for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and in its current scope will
focus delivery in the rural areas across the West Yorkshire and
York region.
Impact
Delivery of superfast broadband across West Yorkshire and
York will provide required infrastructure improvement in the state
aid compliant areas as outlined in the findings of the Open
Market Review of 2017 commissioned by Combined Authority
and Partner councils. Research based evidence suggest that
access to broadband combined with a good speed could
increase UK GDP by 7%.
Digital and Creative as one of the key SEP sector with
approximately 11,000 businesses strong relies on high quality
infrastructure for its growth therefore substantiating need for
broadband infrastructure investment in the region.
The scheme’s wider social benefits include improving the
sustainability of local businesses, future mobility, independent
living and enabling expansion and increased access to
employment.
Decision sought
Activity 3 Change Request to reduce the delivery scope of the
scheme to cover the rural white postcode areas funded by
DEFRA as a result of no uptake on the urban area tender which
was funded by ESIF and Gainshare. This change in scope
reflects the proportionate reduction in total output of the scheme
as outlined further in the report.
Total value - £7.326 million
Total value of Combined Authority funding - £7.326 million
Funding recommendation sought - £0
A decision by the Investment Committee using the delegated
authority from the Combined Authority is sought as part of this
report.

4

Information

4.1

The background information on the Combined Authority’s assurance
framework through which each of the schemes outlined in this report are being
approved is provided in Appendix 1. In addition, this appendix also provides a
description of the approach for the future assurance approval pathway and the
assurance tolerances for each scheme.

13

Projects in stage 1: Eligibility

4.2

Projects at the eligibility stage are seeking entry into the portfolio and should
demonstrate a strategic fit in terms of project outcomes, with further project
definition including costs and detailed timescales to be developed as the
project progresses through the assurance process. At this stage funding may
be sought to enable this work to progress.
Project Title

York City Centre Access Improvements

Stage

1 (eligibility)

Decision Point

2 (strategic outline case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.3

This scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport fund.
This is a £1 billion fund, covering West Yorkshire and York. The objectives of
the West Yorkshire plus Transport fund are to enable key employment and
housing development areas and will help to create about 20,000 new jobs
over the next 10 years. These strategic transport projects will be delivered to
facilitate the growth priorities identified in the Leeds City Region Economic
plan.

4.4

This scheme supports the redevelopment of Castle Gateway in the south
eastern quarter of York City Centre by repurposing public space, improving
accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists and increasing active mode travel.
This area is made up of the land around the base of Clifford’s Tower, Clifford
Street, Tower Street, Coppergate, Piccadilly and the confluence of the rivers
Ouse and Foss. The area is currently in the process of undergoing major
regeneration with a wider masterplan being developed by City of York
Council.

14

4.5

The Castle Gateway masterplan was approved by the City of York Council
Executive in April 2018. The masterplan was developed through extensive
public engagement under the ‘My Castle Gateway’ project and with guidance
from the Castle Gateway Advisory Group which was comprised of major
stakeholders and statutory bodies in the area. The resulting masterplan
proposals celebrate the city’s heritage and balance the public’s desire for
high quality public realm with commercial development opportunities that
help fund that ambition.

4.6

The delivery of the overall masterplan and the public benefits is facilitated by
the re-provision of parking at St George’s Field. The new multi storey car park
will include a high proportion of Electric Vehicle Charging points and other
carbon reducing measures such as photovoltaic solar panels and a green wall.
It should be noted that this car park is not being funded by the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund.

4.7

Castle Gateway currently has low levels of active mode travel despite five of
the six park and ride services operating here, and the area is bisected by
York’s Inner Ring Road, which is heavily congested at peak times. The
proposed scheme will contribute towards the delivery of the wider masterplan,
seeking to increase sustainable transport access to this area of the city and
improve the environment for pedestrians and cyclists.

4.8

The proposed scheme comprises of the following interventions:



The provision of a new formal pedestrian/ cyclist crossing over the A1036
Inner Ring Road (Tower Street) between Skeldergate Bridge and
Piccadilly.



The provision of a new pedestrian footbridge across the River Foss
between Piccadilly and the A61036 Inner Ring Road.



Improvements to bus stop facilities and bus routings in and around the
York Castle Gateway area.



The creation of a public space at the location of Castle car park.



Public realm improvements on Tower Street, Clifford Street and
Piccadilly.

4.9

The wider regeneration along Piccadilly and the creation of the new public
realm and event space at the eye of York, will increase the number of visitors
to, and journeys through, the Castle Gateway area. Simultaneously reducing
the parking spaces available emphasises the importance of having
accessible and attractive sustainable transport options. For example, the
estimated predicted usage of the proposed Foss Bridge is 3,000 people per
day.

4.10

This scheme gained approval to proceed through decision point 1 in May
2019 from the Strategic Assessment Review Group (SARG).

15

4.11

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 2.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications

4.12

City of York Council has declared a climate emergency with a commitment to
make the city carbon neutral by 2030. This scheme will reduce the number of
vehicles entering the city centre thereby reducing emissions and improving
air quality.

4.13

In December 2019 City of York Council passed the following motion


“subject to the ‘my city centre’ consultation and a refresh of the Local
Transport Plan, prepares a plan by 2021, in conjunction with residents
and businesses, to significantly reduce or remove non-essential motor
vehicle journeys from ‘within the city walls’, taking into account all
financial and legal considerations”.

4.14

Therefore, this scheme will support and enable the City of York Council
motion to reduce non-essential motor vehicle movements inside the city wall.
It should also be noted that a key Critical Success Factor for the scheme is to
‘Support the “car free” city centre vision’, supporting the City of York Councils
objectives for a “car free” city.

4.15

A key objective of the scheme is also to ‘Improve air quality and health
outcomes. The benefits of this objective cover both noise, air quality and
carbon.

4.16

The target of this intervention is to reduce the number of private vehicles on
Tower Street/ Clifford Street by 30%. This is a location in proximity to a
number of key tourist attractors, such as The York Dungeon, therefore the
improvements in air quality will impact on a significant pedestrian population.

4.17

Further details on quantifying climate change implications will be undertaken
as the scheme progresses through the assurance process.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications

4.18

Key outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications are:


Increase the accessibility of the York Gateway area for sustainable
modes with a 20% reduction in the generalised travel costs for walking
and cycling modes from key locations outside of the Castle Gateway to
Clifford’s Tower by 2026.



Increase of commuting and shopping journeys from car to bus, walking
and cycling and a 10% increase in the number of bus passengers on all
bus services within York by 2026.



A 30% reduction of the number of vehicles within the Inner Ring Road
by 2026.

16



A reduction in harmful emissions within the Inner Ring Road to improve
air quality.

Further details on the outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications will
be provided at the next stage in the assurance process.
Risks
4.19

The key risks for this scheme are:


The scheme and/ or wider masterplan experiences a loss of public and/
or political support. This will be mitigated through the next stage of
engagement on My Castle Gateway where continual updates will be
provided through the Castle Gateway social media accounts and
ongoing dialogue with political party leaders, including attendance at
appropriate ward committees and public meetings.



Failure to secure planning permission for the new multi-storey car park
by City of York Council would mean that Castle Car Park could not
close. This would reduce the scope and benefits of the scheme. This
will be mitigated by ongoing dialogue with statutory bodies and public
engagement through ‘My Castle Gateway’.



There is a risk that scheme delivery could be adversely affected if the
Castle Gateway area suffered heavy floods. This will be mitigated
through consideration of resilience to flooding in the scheme design.

Costs
4.20

The scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund and
the total scheme cost is £8.1 million for the preferred way forward.

4.21

The cost ranges for the shortlisted options are:


Business as usual- £750,000- £1.2 million



Do minimum- £1.5 million - £2.6 million



Preferred way forward- £6.0 million- £10.1 million



More ambitious- £11.8 million - £19.6 million

4.22

At Decision Point 1 a budget of £55,000 was approved for development
costs, however payment of these costs was subject to the successful
progression of the scheme through Decision Point 2.

4.23

At this Decision Point (DP2) a development budget of £300,000 is requested
to support development of the Outline Business Case, a bus routing study
and scheme development and design.

4.24

The total scheme cost (£8.1 million) is less than the revised baseline
allocation (£8.77 million) recommended by the Investment Committee to the

17

Combined Authority on 09 January 2020. Combined Authority are being
requested to approve the revised baseline allocations on 06 February 2020.
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

2 (strategic outline case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

13/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

30/05/2020

Decision: Investment Committee
4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

31/07/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

30/11/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales


The scheme is expected to start on site in December 2020 and be
completed by November 2021.

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That Combined Authority costs remain within 10% of those outlined in this report.
That the timeframes remain within 3 months of those outlined in this report.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

James Gilchrist, City of York Council

Project Manager

Julian Ridge, City of York Council

Combined Authority case officer

Heather Briggs

Appraisal Summary
4.25

The strategic drivers have been suitably established with the promoter
demonstrating the proposed interventions and the desired outcomes and
benefits align to the ambitions and objectives of the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme and the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. The

18

scheme also makes a strong case in supporting the Leeds City Region
Strategic Economic Plan, with the scheme to facilitate economic growth in
Leeds city centre through making improvements to the public transport and
active mode infrastructure, enhancing accessibility and connectivity to
employment, education and retail.
4.26

Appropriate consideration has been given to the commercial and management
cases at outline business case, with fundamental elements to be worked up at
the next stage, such as risk allocation and transfer which will be developed in
line with detailed design and contractual arrangements.
Recommendations

4.27

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The York City Centre Access Improvements scheme proceeds through
decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work commences on activity
3 (outline business case).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £8.1 million is given
from the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5.

(iii)

Development costs of £355,000 approved in order to progress the
scheme to activity 3 (outline business case).

(iv) The Combined Authority enters into a Funding Agreement with City of
York Council for expenditure of up to £355,000 from the West Yorkshireplus Transport Fund.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances set out in this report.

19

Project Title

Leeds City Region Future Mobility Zone

Stage

1 (eligibility)

Decision Point

2 (strategic outline case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.28

The Leeds City Region Future Mobility Zone (LCR FMZ) is a £32.01 million
programme designed to deliver a step change in mobility in the City Region
that is focused on local needs, place and people, particularly supporting those
communities where improving access to mobility technology and services
together with new facilities can support Inclusive Growth.

4.29

The Future Mobility Zone will deliver a unique, innovative package which will
utilise world class technologies to transform the mobility offer for some of the
hardest to reach urban and rural communities.

4.30

The LCR FMZ programme has been developed by the Combined Authority
and district partners in response to a competitive bidding process for LCR
FMZ funds by the Department for Transport (DfT). At its meeting on 6
September 2019 the Combined Authority approved the submission of the LCR
FMZ funding bid. A copy of the bid has been published and a decision from
the DfT is expected in early February 2020.

4.31

The LCR FMZ programme will enable the development and trial the delivery
of:


Dynamic demand responsive bus services in areas where commercial
services are limited, and which enable pick-up / drop-off locations nearer
to people’s homes;



A Mobility as a Service (MaaS) app to better integrate the provision of
travel information and booking, including provisions such as the use of
voice activated software to improve accessibility;



Mobility credits and other measures to reduce the cost of travel and
encourage the use of transport services in targeted communities;

20



Mobility hubs with access to demand responsive bus services, shared
bikes and car club vehicles to complement existing public transport
networks; and



Dynamic network management enabling a data led approach to the
management, access and use of our kerb and road-space which will help
to rebalance priorities for pedestrians and cyclists.

4.32

Investment in future mobility, through the LCR FMZ, provides a significant
opportunity to support the emerging LCR Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) which
focuses on stimulating inclusive growth, tackling our productivity gap,
improving living standards (particularly in areas experiencing high levels of
deprivation) supporting our clean growth aspirations.

4.33

Subject to the decision on the funding bid by DfT which is expected in
February and approval of partnership funding from the Combined Authority
and District Partners, the LCR FMZ programme will run initially to 31 March
2023, the date by which DfT funding must have been spent.

4.34

The programme will be managed within the governance structure that is being
established for the larger LCR Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) programme
which the DfT are also expected to announce funding for in March 2020.
Individual schemes in the FMZ programme will come forward for approval
through the Combined Authority’s assurance process.

4.35

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 3.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications

4.36

The FMZ programme will utilise new technologies to encourage the transition
to low carbon and sustainable mobility modes, reducing transport related
emissions and contributing to the City Region achieving its ambition to be net
zero carbon by 2038.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications

4.37

The FMZ programme will make it easier and cheaper for people to access and
use low carbon modes of transport, helping to build new, more sustainable
travel habits and stimulating the growth of the sustainable technology sector.

4.38

The FMZ will enable Inclusive Growth through improving equity of access to
transport / mobility services. The FMZ will:


improve transport for all, and reduce barriers to mobility for people who
are currently excluded;



Deliver transformed innovative local connectivity, particularly between
deprived communities and employment / skills opportunities;



Address the affordability of public transport, particularly for low income
workers, job seekers and those in areas of deprivation;

21

4.39



Utilise new technologies to encourage the transition to low carbon and
sustainable mobility modes, reducing transport related emissions and
contributing to the City Region achieving its ambition to be net zero
carbon by 2038; and



Ensure digital and financial inclusion is at the heart of the development of
new solutions to help boost productivity.

Given the innovative nature of FMZ, monitoring and evaluation of the
outcomes and benefits of the proposed interventions is a key part of the
programme and the submission to the DfT as a means of gathering
knowledge, learning and best practice. This will include developing key metrics
to determine the effectiveness of these interventions, including value for
money, and develop a robust evidence base to support the development of the
programme beyond the current period.
Risks

4.40

4.41

Subject to the decision on the funding bid by DfT and approval of partnership
funding from the Combined Authority and district partners, the main risks to
the development and delivery of the programme and associated mitigating
measures are:


Mobility as a Service (MaaS) - limited support from operators and
suppliers, long development lead in times and technical complexities.
Mitigated though early market, stakeholder and community engagement,
building on MCard and YorCard solutions and existing service interfaces.



Mobility credits - the unintended consequences of a credit-based
system including revenue risk to the Combined Authority. Mitigated by
establishing clearly defined and communicated parameters for credit
incentives based on consultation with potential users and exploring the
use of revenue streams generated by the programme.



Digital demand responsive - low take up from operators and users and
operational risks associated with service provision, including the
integration of new with established services and revenue risks to
Council’s and operators. Mitigated by early dialogue with operators
(including the Bus Alliance) and building on stakeholder engagement for
an initial East Leeds demand responsive travel scheme and existing
Access Bus services.



Mobility hubs - not securing the necessary planning and other consents
(where required). Mitigated by ongoing engagement with Local Planning
Authorities and Network Rail (for specific locations) and drawing on
previous schemes across the City Region to integrate public transport
with walking and cycling and other community facilities.

A more detailed assessment of risks will be undertaken as individual thematic
outline business cases come forward through the Combined Authority’s
Assurance process together with as assessment of programme risks in
relation to expenditure, milestones, technology and data protection.

22

Costs
4.42

The total cost of the LCR FMZ programme is £32.01 million and the Combined
Authority is seeking £27.28 million of this from the DfT. The Combined
Authority will contribute £3.51 million from the following sources:


LTP (Local Transport Plan) - £2.75 million (programme level approval by
Transport Committee)



LPTIP (Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme) - £0.763 million
included in the bus delivery package

4.43

The remaining £1.22 million will come from District Partners and is subject to
approval. Funding and expenditure scenarios have been developed to reflect
potentially different levels of FMZ funding awarded by the DfT and will be
confirmed after the announcement is made.

4.44

As part of this Strategic Outline development funding of £2.01 million is sought
from a combination of LTP funding (£300,000), LPTIP funding (£762,500) and
DfT FMZ funding (£750,000). Development funding from the DfT FMZ will only
be agreed subject to formal sign from the FMZ funding stream by Government.
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

2 (strategic outline case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

05/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
6 (delivery)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

To be confirmed

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
7 (review and close)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

To be confirmed

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

4.45

This assurance pathway and approval route relates to the programme only.
Individual schemes (or packages where appropriate) will come forward on a
specific approval route agreed with the Combined Authority when accounting
for their scale, complexity and timetable.

23

Other Key Timescales
4.46

The LCR FMZ programme will initially operate until 31 March 2023 and key
milestones for individual schemes and work packages will be confirmed as
they come through the assurance process. Given the scope of work involved
and the time constraints for expenditure it is expected that the technologybased aspects of the programme will be in operational testing by the end of
2021 with mobility hubs and associated network infrastructure operational in
the following year.
Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That the Combined Authority’s contribution to the programme should remain within plus 10%
of the total contribution set out
That the programme delivery timescale remains within three months of the timescales
identified within this report

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Liz Hunter, Head of Transport Policy

Project Manager

Kate Gifford, Head of Future Mobility

Combined Authority case officer

Jonathan Rogers

Appraisal Summary
4.47

The programme has a very strong strategic fit with the priorities of the SEP
and the emerging objectives of the Local Industrial Strategy and commitment
to address climate change. It has been developed as a result of extensive
engagement with local communities, stakeholders and transport operators with
a clear focus on inclusive growth.

4.48

The potential benefits to individuals and communities, particularly those in
greatest need, are clearly set out in the economic case. Given the innovative
nature of many of the interventions proposed, developing key metrics to
determine value for money and how these will be monitored and evaluated will
be a key feature of the programme. This will be linked to the monitoring and
evaluation plan for the LCR Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) programme.

4.49

The procurement strategy will be developed for individual schemes or
packages as they come forward through the assurance pathway, benefitting
from the experience of the Combined Authority, District Partners and others as
well as best practice in delivering similar types of schemes (MCard and
Access Bus).

4.50

Leeds City Region was one of seven areas in England and Wales shortlisted
in July 2019 to progress to the second round of bidding for the FMZ fund by
DfT. It is anticipated that up to three areas will be chosen by the Secretary of

24

State as Future Mobility Zones from a total fund of £70 million. The
programme could not be delivered in its entirety without DfT funding.
4.51

Subject to funding it will be managed within the overarching governance
structure that is being established for the TCF programme. Key risks
particularly in relation to service and technology innovation are understood
and milestones appear reasonable.
Recommendations

4.52

The Investment Committee recommend to the Combined Authority:
(i)

That the Future Mobility Zone (FMZ) programme proceeds through
Decision Point 2 and work commences on the development of business
cases for individual packages

(ii)

An indicative approval to £30.793 million, which will be funded from the
Local Transport Plan (£2.75 million), the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme (£0.763 million) and the Department for
Transport FMZ fund (£27.28 million) is given with full approval to spend
being granted as individual scheme or packages have progressed
through the Assurance Process to Decision Point 5. The total programme
cost is £32.01 million, including £1.22 million from District Partners.

(iii)

An approval for development funding of £2.01 million be made to enable
initial work on outline business cases for individual packages, subject to
DfT funding being announced.

(iv) That future programme approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at
Decision Point 6 and 7 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report

25

Projects in Stage 2: Development

4.54

Projects at this development stage should demonstrate that they have tested
the feasibility of a solution through their business case. This business case
should then be developed in order to confirm and detail the preferred solution
including finalising its cost.
Project Title

Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.55

The Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation Scheme is part of the Leeds City Region
Flood Alleviation for Growth Programme. The aim of the programme is to
improve the resilience of businesses and communities in those areas which
are currently affected by high flood risk. Other schemes in this programme
include the Wyke Beck and city centre schemes in Leeds, Mytholmroyd,
Skipton and schemes to increase flood resilience through natural flood
management techniques in the upper Calder, Colne and Aire valleys.

4.56

Hebden Bridge has a significant risk of flooding from the River Calder, Hebden
Water and the Rochdale Canal. In recent years businesses and local
communities have suffered multiple flood events, including the Boxing Day
2015 floods where river levels were the highest ever recorded and flooding
was widespread throughout the whole of the Calder Valley.

4.57

The Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation Scheme is designed to address all
sources of flooding in Hebden Bridge including the two rivers, the canal and
surface water, taking account of the natural topography and historic fabric of
the area.

26

4.58

Hebden Bridge currently has a 20% risk of flooding in any given year. The
scheme aims to reduce this risk to 2% in any given year, significantly
improving the standard of flood protection for homes, businesses and
essential infrastructure in the area, including rail, road, public transport,
walking and cycling links.

4.59

The scheme will reduce flood risk to 183 homes and 231 businesses,
potentially safeguarding 700 jobs in the area, supporting the delivery of
Priority 3 (Clean Energy & Environmental Resilience) 4b (Infrastructure for
Growth) and 4c (Flood Alleviation) of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)

4.60

The Hebden Bridge scheme is part of the Flood Alleviation for Growth
Programme which is funded from several partnership sources including the
Combined Authority (Local Growth Fund) Environment Agency (Flood Defence
Grant in Aid and Booster Funding), the European Structural & Investment
Fund (ESIF) and District Partners.

4.61

The Combined Authority approved its Local Growth Fund contribution to the
programme on 27th June 2017 and this funding is targeted at reducing the
flood risk to businesses and safeguarding jobs across the City Region,
mitigating the risk of disruption or loss of access that affect current and
potential business viability.

4.62

The design and delivery of the scheme is being led by the Environment
Agency on behalf of the multi-agency Calderdale Flood Partnership which
includes the Calderdale Council, the Canals & Rivers Trust, Yorkshire Water
and Network Rail.

4.63

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 4.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications

4.64

The scheme aims to increase the City Region’s resilience to current and future
climate change through the reduction of flood risk to local business and
communities and is designed to enhance accessibility for walking and cycling
in the area.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications


The outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications of the scheme will
include:



Reducing the flood risk to 183 homes and 231 businesses, potentially
safeguarding 700 jobs in the area.



Reduce the potential cost of future flood damage by over £60 million.



Improving business confidence in the area and business continuity in the
event of future flood events.



Protecting essential infrastructure in the area, including rail, road, public
transport, walking and cycling links.

27

4.65



Supporting the visitor economy by enhancing and sustaining accessibility
to waterfront amenities and key heritage attractions.



Reduce the potential risks to public safety as a result of rapid onset
flooding

The scheme presents a benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 2:1 where the whole-life
costs of the scheme have been compared to the monetised benefits arising
from a reduction in damages to property and vehicle, evacuation and
emergency services costs, risk to life and other health impacts.
Risks

4.66

A quantified risk assessment (QRA) has been prepared by the Environment
Agency. The scheme is at the design stage and the key delivery risks and
associated mitigation measures identified at this stage relate to the process of
securing stakeholder support, planning and other statutory consents, refining
scheme designs and cost estimates and ensuring adequate funding is in place
to enable delivery.

4.67

A minor risk for the Combined Authority is that the funding being approved is
for the design stage of the scheme, rather than construction. This is because
construction is not due to commence until May 2021 and the Local Growth
Fund (LGF) allocation must be spent by 31 March 2021. Therefore, the
implementation of the scheme cannot be guaranteed at this time. However,
taking account of the status of the scheme promoter and their commitment to
fund over 90% of the total scheme costs and to the delivery of the scheme,
this risk will be mitigated through a series of conditions in a Funding
Agreement with the Environment Agency linked to the ‘clawback’ of grant in
the event that key design and delivery milestones are not met and any
reduction in their scheme funding or outputs.
Costs

4.68

The total cost of the scheme is £27.283 million. The Environment Agency has
secured £25.383 million (Flood Defence Grant in Aid and Booster Funding).
The Combined Authority agree to provide development matched funding of
£1.9 million from the £20 million Local Growth Fund allocation for the Flood
Alleviation programme.

4.69

Construction is not due to commence until May 2021. To ensure that the
Combined Authority’s Local Growth Fund (LGF) allocation is spent before the
31 March 2021 it will used for the design stage of the scheme rather than the
delivery stage.
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

28

Decision: Combined Authority
4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

31/03/2021

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales
4.70

Scheme construction is forecast to commence in May 2021 and be completed
by June 2023.
Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That the Combined Authority grant funding should remain within £1.9 million
That the project delivery timescale remains within three months of the timescales identified
within this report.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Will Benedikz, Environment Agency

Project Manager

Christian Merriman, Environment Agency

Combined Authority case officer

Ian McNichol

Appraisal Summary
4.71

The scheme has a strong strategic and economic case, with improved levels
of protection to homes and businesses potentially delivering a benefit cost
ratio (BCR) of 2:1, safeguarding up to 700 jobs and providing a range of wider
economic benefits.

4.72

The scheme is being led and delivered by the Environment Agency.
Governance, stakeholder engagement and project management mechanisms
are in in place and the procurement strategy and contracting structure is clear,
with a good understanding of risk.

4.73

All match funding for the scheme has been secured by the Environment
Agency. The Combined Authority will need to provide its funding to contribute
to the cost of the design stage of the scheme rather than the delivery stage in
order to meet the requirement to defray the Local Growth Fund allocation by
31st March 2021.

4.74

The risk to the Combined Authority of the scheme not being delivered can be
mitigated through a series of conditions in a Funding Agreement with the
Environment Agency linked to the ‘clawback’ of grant.

29

Recommendations
4.75

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation Scheme proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business case)

(ii)

Development costs of £1.9 million are approved in order to progress the
scheme to activity 4 (full business case) from the Local Growth Fund.
The total project value is £27.283 million.

(iii)

The Combined Authority enters into a Funding Agreement with the
Environment Agency for development expenditure of up to £1.9 million
from the Local Growth fund.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

30

Project Title

Corn Exchange Gateway

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.76

The Corn Exchange Gateway scheme has been developed through the Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), a £182.3 million programme
which brings together economic growth ambitions through public transport,
access and connectivity improvements across Leeds.

4.77

The Corn Exchange Gateway encompasses a high proportion of key city
centre bus, cycle, and pedestrian movements. The scheme is formed of Vicar
Lane, New Market Street, Kirkgate, New York Street, Harper Street, Kirkgate
York Street, Cross York Street, Duncan Street, Call Lane, Boar Lane, Lower
Briggate, Bridge End, and Meadow Lane - just under 2.2km of public highway.

4.78

This scheme will deliver a series of improvements to the bus, pedestrian, and
cycling infrastructure, as well as improve the urban environment to transform
the Corn Exchange into a world class Gateway to Leeds city centre. Changes
to the highway structure, bus gates, and bus re-routing measures will improve
end to end bus journey times and bus service reliability. Improved pedestrian
crossings and footpath widening measures will enhance the walking provision.
New protected cycle lanes and cycle crossings will improve connectivity to the
cycle network. Provision of new green infrastructure and new public open
spaces will enhance the townscape and attractiveness of the city centre to
employers, residents, and visitors.

4.79

Scheme delivery will support priority area 4 ‘infrastructure for growth’ of the
Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), supporting the City Region
realise its economic growth ambitions by enhancing connectivity to
employment, education, and retail opportunities through public transport and
active mode improvements.

4.80

The scheme has come forward at outline business case (activity 3) with a total
forecast scheme cost of £25.6 million. The Combined Authority contribution is
estimated to be £24.7 million, of which £18.6 million will be funded by the

31

Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) and a contribution of
£6.1 million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF).
4.81

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 5.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications

4.82

The scheme will deliver provision of new green infrastructure, bus priority and
enhanced public realm, and will encourage modal switch to public and active
modes thereby improving air quality and reducing CO2 emissions within the
city centre.

4.83

Further details on clean growth and climate change implications will be
brought forward at activity 4 (full business case)
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications

4.84

The scheme outputs and benefits include:


Support the overall increase in bus patronage by 100% by 2026.



Improve end to end journey times for bus services through the Gateway
by 20% by 2022.



Improve air quality in the Gateways by supporting mode shift to public
transport and active travel modes.



Improve the quality of bus passenger experience and levels of
satisfaction by 2022.



Improve network safety for all users by 2026.



Improve access to employment and training opportunities.



Enhance streetscape, the built environment, and green infrastructure in
the Gateways.



Improve connectivity between bus and rail services in the city centre,
contributing to an increase percentage share of non-car modes to 70%
by 2026.



The value for money assessment based on WebTAG appraisal reflects a
core benefit cost ratio (BCR) of -0.35:1. Should highway user disbenefits
be discounted, the BCR improves to 0.65:1. Appraisal does however
consider the strategic drivers for investment which are in line with public
transport policies and strategies as per the LPTIP and WY+TF funding
programmes.



The scheme supports inclusive growth by improving access to
employment, education, and retail opportunities to those from deprived or
disconnected areas through the public transport and active mode
enhancements. The scheme also supports a better quality of life by
improving air quality in the city centre through reducing road traffic and
subsequently carbon emissions, and additionally by improving the

32

working and living environment through provision of new green
infrastructure and public open spaces.
Risks
4.85

The scheme risks include:


Additional surface water drainage capacity may be required as a
response to the Leeds city council’s climate emergency declaration.
Potential need for early works to ensure surface water flows can be
conveyed to a storage tank in city square.



Unplanned utilities are identified during construction - the delivery partner
will manage on site. Extensive Ground Penetrating Radar surveys will be
commissioned.

Costs
4.86

The scheme costs are:


The total forecast scheme cost is £25.6 million.



The Combined Authority contribution is £24.7 million, of which £18.6
million will be funded by the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme (LPTIP) and a contribution of £6.1 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) – Leeds City Centre Package.



A £900,000 S106 developer contribution is pending approval.

4.87

The scheme is to draw down funding for business case development costs
through the LPTIP programme allocation. A scheme funding agreement is
therefore not required at this stage.

4.88

The contribution of £6.1 million from the WY+TF is from the £66.8 million
allocated to the Leeds City Centre Network Improvements scheme and is
therefore within the revised baseline allocation recommended by the
Investment Committee to the Combined Authority on 09 January 2020.
Combined Authority are being requested to approve the revised baseline
allocations on 06 February 2020.
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

33

14/05/2020

5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

17/09/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales


Construction commence is forecast for June 2020.



Practical completion is forecast for December 2021.

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That any scheme cost increase remains within 10% of cost set out.
That the delivery programme remains within 3 months of the timescales set out.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Gary Bartlett, Leeds City Council

Project Manager

Gwyn Owen, Leeds City Council

Combined Authority case officer

Asif Abed

Appraisal Summary
4.89

The strategic drivers have been suitably established with the promoter
demonstrating the proposed interventions and the desired outcomes and
benefits align to the ambitions and objectives of the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme and the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. The
scheme also makes a strong case in supporting the Leeds City Region
Strategic Economic Plan, with the scheme to facilitate economic growth in
Leeds city centre through making improvements to the public transport and
active mode infrastructure, enhancing accessibility and connectivity to
employment, education and retail.

4.90

Appropriate consideration has been given to the commercial and management
cases at outline business case, with fundamental elements to be worked up at
the next stage, such as risk allocation and transfer which will be developed in
line with detailed design and contractual arrangements.

4.91

The financial case has adequately demonstrated a breakdown of scheme
costs and funding contributions, and additionally reflected scheme affordability
based on the current LPTIP and WY+TF funding allocations. It has been
recommended that an updated funding strategy paper is submitted at the next
stage to reflect more accurately the status of the LPTIP and WY+TF
programmes and the outcome of the S106 developer contribution to the
scheme.

34

4.92

The value for money assessment does reflect the current scheme as a “very
poor” value for money scheme when considering the core benefit cost ratio,
which after discounting the highway user disbenefits, only improves it to a
“poor” value for money category. It is however acknowledged that a scheme
design which is largely focused on public transport and public realm
improvements does not perform well under WebTAG appraisal, so given the
scheme is very much to deliver in accordance to public transport policies and
strategies, the wider strategic benefits have to be taken into consideration. It
would still be a recommendation that the promoter reflects on the outline
design and seeks to improve the value for money position by making
refinements at the detailed design stage.
Recommendations

4.93

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Corn Exchange Gateway project proceeds through decision point 3
and work commences on activity 4 (FBC).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £24.7
million is given, with £18.6 million to be funded through the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme and £6.1 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, with full approval to spend being granted
once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (FBC with finalised costs). The total project value is
£25.6 million.

(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and
5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

35

Project Title

Enterprise Zone: Parry Lane

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.94

On a regional scale, Enterprise Zones (EZ) are a key part of central
Government’s national agenda to devolve responsibility for growth and
incentivise additional economic development.

4.95

The Leeds City Region (LCR) EZ programme secured funding approval of up
to £44.939 million through the Local Growth Fund (LGF) programme which
runs to 31 March 2021.

4.96

The Parry Lane site is part of the M62 Enterprise Zone, which covers sites in
Wakefield, Bradford, Kirklees and Calderdale. The land is owned by Bradford
Council thereby removing the need for extensive land acquisition costs and
sits within the area designated the Bradford Business Development Zone
(BDZ); a catalyst for wider regeneration in the area. There has been no
physical development on the site for approximately 15 years.

4.97

This scheme through the LCR EZ programme supports Priority Area 4
(Infrastructure for Growth) and the ‘good growth’ principles of the LCR
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), through unlocking opportunities for highquality employment space in the advanced and innovative manufacturing and
complementary sectors.

4.98

The Parry Lane scheme, through the LGF programme, seeks to deliver site
enabling and de-risking works to make the development a more viable
proposition for the private sector. Working with the private sector, it is
anticipated that full site development could be realised by March 2025, with
delivery of up to 16,900 sqm of commercial floor space capable of
accommodating 489 jobs, generating up to £166 million GVA, and potential
business rates income of approximately £5.3 million over the period to 2042.

4.99

The scheme has come forward at outline business case (activity 3) with a total
scheme cost forecast of £18.88 million, and based on the net development

36

value estimates, seeks indicative approval of £8,081,037 through the LGF to
fund the viability gap. The LGF is to support the securing of outline planning
permission, the undertaking of site remediation and infrastructure works, and
delivery of an essential signalised junction and access route in order to ready
the site for development.
4.100 The full business case (activity 4) is to demonstrate a viable funding strategy,
route to development, and a refined delivery programme and consideration of
all the options available. Further progression of the scheme through the
assurance process will be conditional upon this.
4.101 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 6.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.102 The following aspects of the enabling works will be assessed from an
environmental impact as part of the final business case development:


land clearance and management of waste.



substitution of materials with sustainable resources.

Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.103 The direct scheme outputs to be delivered through this scheme are to provide
a de-risked and serviced site with a signalised junction and access route.
4.104 The indirect scheme outcomes and benefits are delivery of up to 16,900 sqm
of commercial floor space by March 2025, capable of accommodating 489
jobs, generating up to £166 million GVA, and potential business rates income
of approximately £5.3 million over the period to 2042.
4.105 The scheme supports inclusive growth by developing land to unlock
employment opportunities for residents across West Yorkshire and the City
Region. Additionally, the scheme supports the regeneration of a deprived
area, enhancing the local working environment.
Risks
4.106 The scheme risks include:


The LGF programme timescale of 31 March 2021 represents a significant
constraint and risk to the scheme, with the indication that full delivery of
the proposed site and therefore utilisation of the £8.81 million LGF ask,
will require an extension to the LGF timescale. The indicative delivery
programme indicates practical completion of the enabling works and
therefore LGF spend, could be achieved by May 2021.



The outcome to negotiations with the private sector on the funding
agreement and scheme design taken forward. As per other EZ schemes,
robust clauses will be inserted into the funding agreement to protect the

37

public sector and support the realisation of the desired economic growth
outputs.


Site risks such as utility diversions and unexpected ground conditions. To
be mitigated through improved engagement with Northern Power Grid
and contractor (to be appointed) engagement as part of detailed design
stage.



Rental aspirations are not achieved. Market appraisal has informed the
business case with the risk to be monitored.

Costs
4.107 The scheme costs include:


The total scheme cost estimate for a fully developed site is £18.88
million, the net development value assessment is currently £11.04
million, therefore forecasting a viability gap.



The promoter seeks an indicative approval of £8.081 million through the
£44.939 million Local Growth Fund allocation to the LCR Enterprise Zone
programme which is sufficient to meet the viability gap and does contain
£1.6 million attributed to risk.



The promoter seeks approval of £536,849 from the Local Growth Fund to
fund full business case development costs. To date the scheme has
drawn down business case development costs from the £1.923 million
EZ programme funding pot.



A funding agreement will be required with City of Bradford District &
Metropolitan Council to assist in the development of the full business
case as part of the funding allocation of £540,000.

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

24/04/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales


March 2020: Submit outline design planning application.

38

24/07/2020



May 2020: Contractor appointment.



June 2020: Secure outline design planning approval.



July 2020: Commencement of site enabling construction works.



May 2021: Practical completion of site enabling construction works.



March 2025: Completion of full site development.

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances

That any scheme cost increase remains within 10% of the costs set out.
That the scheme delivers site enabling works by 31 May 2021

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Melanie Corcoran, Combined Authority

Project Manager

Sara Brook, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Asif Abed

Appraisal Summary
4.108 The strategic drivers are suitably established, with the business case
highlighting the potential economic growth opportunities that could be realised
through developing the Parry Lane site as part of the LCR Enterprise Zone
programme, and its support to the LCR SEP and inclusive growth principles to
the local area of Bradford.
4.109 The March 2021 LGF spend constraint however poses a significant risk to the
scheme, requiring a viable funding strategy, route to development, and a
refined delivery programme to be in place following discussions with BEIS and
the consideration of all options available.
4.110 The value for money assessment also needs to be worked up. It is apparent
the Parry Lane site provides the opportunity to realise significant economic
growth outputs in terms of commercial floorspace, jobs, and GVA, however the
private sector will largely deliver them, and as a consequence the promoter
should establish the value for money position based solely on the LGF
investment and the direct outputs. Implications on land value uplift should also
be considered.
Recommendations
4.111 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The EZ Parry Lane scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 (full business case).

39

(ii)

The total cost of the scheme is £18.88 million. An indicative approval to
the Combined Authority’s contribution of £8.081 million through the Local
Growth Fund is given, with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)

Development costs of £540,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 4 (full business case).

(iv) Approval is given to enter into a Funding Agreement with the City of
Bradford District & Metropolitan Council in order to assist in the
development of the full business case for up to £540,000.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and
5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

40

Project Title

Leeds Inland Port

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background:
4.112 The Leeds Inland Port project enables the potential of the 100 km waterway
between Hull, Immingham and Leeds to be unlocked through the delivery of a
new wharf facility at Stourton to enable the transportation of non-perishable
freight such as aggregates, timber, oil and steel from the Humber estuary into
Leeds.
4.113 The wharf, which will be located on land off Haigh Park Road, Stourton, LS10,
is well placed because currently freight is coming from the Humber ports by
road and therefore demand is proven and the port will change this mode of
travel.
4.114 It is anticipated that the project will support the development of flagship
projects such as Leeds Southbank and High Speed 2 by enabling construction
materials to be transported on water, thereby reducing congestion on the
roads and generating carbon savings.
4.115 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 7.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.116 894 tonnes of carbon savings by the end of year three, and a reduction in road
freight by 200,000 tonnes after year one.
4.117 Move 200,000 tonnes of freight from road to water after year one, resulting in
reduced road congestion.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.118 Outputs:


One new freight facility for the city of Leeds;

41



Up to 16 new jobs;



200,000 tonnes of freight moved to water per annum.

4.119 Benefits:


An improvement in air quality as reliance on road freight transport is
diminished;



Increased connectivity between the Humber ports and northern Europe.

4.120 Inclusive Growth:


Reduce carbon emissions from road vehicles by 894 tonnes by the end
of year three resulting in improved air quality for the Leeds City Region;

Costs
4.121 The scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund and
the total scheme cost is £3.37 million with the Combined Authority contribution
being £3.17 million. No funding recommendation is being sought at this stage.
4.122 The total scheme cost (£3.17 million) is the same as the revised baseline
allocation (£3.17 million) recommended by the Investment Committee to the
Combined Authority on 09 January 2020. Combined Authority IS being
requested to approve the revised baseline allocations on 06 February 2020.
Risks
4.123 The promoter has identified the following risks at this stage:


Cost overruns - Pain share principles will be applied through contracts
where possible, but where this is not possible, the promoter may absorb
any cost overruns.



Market uptake - Evidence of market research has been submitted along
with evidence of a solid understanding of the field.

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

30/04/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
5 (full business case plus
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

42

30/06/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

4.124 Other Key Timescales


Construction on site (target): Sept 2020



Construction completion (target): March 2021

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That any scheme cost increase remains within 10% of cost set out.
That the delivery programme remains within 3 months of the timescales set out.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Steve Higham – Funding Manager, Canals
and Rivers Trust

Project Manager

Chris Moses

Combined Authority case officer

Daisy Johnson

Appraisal Summary
4.125 The project has a strong strategic fit with the Strategic Economic Plan and
Transport Strategy and will deliver against SEP priorities 1, 2, 3, and 4 to grow
business, create better jobs and deliver infrastructure for growth. The project
could provide a viable alternative to road transport for construction materials
needed to bring forward flagship developments such as Leeds Southbank and
High Speed 2.
4.126 Commercially, the promoter has demonstrated the scheme can be viable,
although further work is required on risk and formal written legal advice
relating to state aid is required.
4.127 The project seeks £3.17 million from the Combined Authority. A full cost plan
and spend profile has been provided.
Recommendations
4.128 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Leeds Inland Port project proceeds through decision point 3 and
work commences on activity 4 (Full business case).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £3.17
million is given, to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund, with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has

43

progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (FBC with
finalised costs). The total project value is £3.37 million.
(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report, including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

44

Project Title

Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.129 The Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway scheme is being developed through the
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), a £182.3 million
programme which brings together economic growth ambitions through public
transport, access and connectivity improvements across Leeds.
4.130 This scheme will deliver a new rail station on the Harrogate railway line,
between Horsforth station and Bramhope tunnel, and serve as a rail
interchange and parkway function to the airport. Connection to the airport is to
be provided by regular shuttle buses.
4.131 The scheme includes construction of two platforms with associated station
facilities such as waiting rooms, passenger information screens, lighting, and
ticket vending machines. It will also include the provision of a 350-space car
park and construction of a spur road to the airport to all users.
4.132 Proposals for LBA Parkway include a spur road which will connect the station
to Scotland Lane. From there the Combined Authority has worked closely with
Leeds City Council to consider options to connect the Parkway station to
Leeds Bradford Airport. These options include a new section of highway from
Scotland Lane to the south of the LBA long stay car park, or improvements to
the northern section of Scotland Lane. These initial considerations formed part
of the consultation exercise undertaken in early 2019. Work to confirm the
connectivity between the Parkway and LBA will continue through the next
design phase, working with Leeds City Council to develop a solution in the
context of the wider LBA connectivity strategy.
4.133 Scheme delivery will support an increase in international connectivity and
contribute to the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) economic
growth ambitions by improving the public transport access to and from the
airport. Additionally, it is envisaged to enhance access to jobs within the
surrounding area as well as the airport itself. The station could also be

45

considered as a park & ride site, to serve residents for onward travel by rail to
employment, education and retail opportunities across West Yorkshire and the
City Region. This would benefit the road network and air quality priorities by
reducing congestion and carbon emission levels.
4.134 Scheme delivery does require the acquisition of third party land. One
landowner has indicated a preference for their whole land holding to be
purchased by the Combined Authority, which would include residual land.
Legal advice has been sought concluding the Combined Authority has
sufficient powers to purchase the entire holding should this be the preferred
approach. Any acquisition will however be subject to the development of a
management plan for the residual land and the satisfactory conclusion to
landowner negotiations.
4.135 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 8.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.136 Both the Combined Authority and Leeds City Council have declared a Climate
Emergency. One of the objectives of the parkway station is to increase
international connectivity and, as a consequence, supports air travel within the
City Region. However, the parkway station will improve the public transport
access to LBA, helping to satisfy surface access demand to/from the airport in
a more sustainable way than is currently possible.
4.137 Furthermore, the parkway station will serve as a rail park and ride, connecting
existing and proposed residential areas to local urban centres such as Leeds,
Harrogate and York, reducing congestion levels.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.138 The scheme outputs and benefits include:


Improve international connectivity by improving access to and from the
airport by public transport.



Provide a park and ride service for residents of north west Leeds and
beyond.



Connect existing and proposed new residential areas to local urban
centres such as Leeds, Harrogate and York.



Support employers in the area access a wider labour network following
delivery of a new rail station.



Provide a more sustainable mode of travel, reducing congestion levels
and improving air quality by reducing carbon emissions.

4.139 The value for money assessment reflects a benefit cost ratio of 4.3:1 judging
the scheme as very high value for money. However, further work to refine the
economic case at the next stage is to be required.

46

4.140 The scheme supports inclusive growth principles by supporting deprived
communities’ access to the airport via public transport, as well as to local
urban centres such as Leeds for employment, education or retail opportunities.
The scheme also supports a better quality of life by reducing road traffic
congestion levels and consequently carbon emission levels, improving air
quality.
Risks
4.141 The scheme risks include:


Potential shortfall in funding. Possible funding solutions are being
explored with stakeholders, including ongoing negotiations with
landowners on the sale value.



Operational analysis shows increased number of passengers at peak
times, which could cause capacity issues on trains. To be monitored as
part of discussions with the train operator and consultants.



Declaration of climate emergency in Leeds constraining ambitions of
economic growth through international connectivity. The scheme has
demonstrated it supports reduction to congestion levels and encourages
sustainable travel by train.

Costs
4.142 The scheme costs are:


The total scheme cost estimate at outline design has been estimated at
£41.98 million.



The Combined Authority contribution for this scheme is £5 million which
will be funded from the Leeds Public Transport Improvement Programme
(LPTIP). This funding is specifically to undertake detailed designs and
approval to final business case with finalised costs (FBC+).



Several options are being explored to the development of a funding
package to deliver the construction works.



At outline business case, the promoter seeks approval of an additional
£4.5 million from the LPTIP, taking total approval to £5 million. This will
be used for land acquisition (£2.7 million) with the remainder used to
develop the full business case.



At this stage a funding agreement is not required given the Combined
Authority’s internal project delivery team are developing the scheme.

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority

47

4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

01/04/2021

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

02/05/2022

Decision: Investment Committee

Other Key Timescales


Construction commence is forecast for May 2022.



Practical completion is forecast for April 2024.



These timescales are based on current assumptions and are subject to
the availability of funding, obtaining the necessary consents and
approvals, and land assembly.

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That any cost increase remains within 10% to costs set out.
That delivery timescales remain within 3 months to that set out.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Liz Hunter, Combined Authority

Project Manager

Tom Murphy, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Asif Abed

Appraisal Summary
4.143 At outline business case, the promoter has reasonably established the
strategic drivers for the scheme, primarily reflecting the scheme’s support to
the Leeds City Region strategic economic plan (SEP) economic growth
ambitions by delivering public transport infrastructure to improve access and
connectivity to and from the airport, and the associated benefits in line with
local and regional transport policies of reducing road congestion levels and
improving air quality.
4.144 With respect to the climate emergency declaration, the scheme does seek to
increase international connectivity and as a consequence support air travel,
recognising the importance of LBA to the City Region’s economy. The
parkway station will improve the public transport access to LBA, helping to
satisfy surface access demand to/from the airport in a more sustainable way.

48

4.145 It is highlighted that the parkway station will also function as a park & ride site
for residents who seek onward travel via rail to local urban centres within the
City Region. This is a reasonable consideration and presents wider benefits.
4.146 The commercial and management cases have been adequately presented but
constrained and should be considered indicative given a funding solution to
deliver the works is still in development.
4.147 The value for money assessment reflects a very high value for money
scheme, and although the economic case has been adequately presented,
appraisal has highlighted areas of refinement for the promoter to address at
the next stage. It is not believed to have a significant impact on the value for
money position.
Recommendations
4.148 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway project proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(ii)

Indicative approval to the total project value of £5 million has been given
from the LPTIP fund with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)

The development costs of £4.5 million are approved in order to progress
the scheme to decision point 4 (Full business case), taking the total
project approval to £5 million.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report, including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team (subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances
outlined in this report), with decision point 5 approval through a
delegation to the Investment Committee following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team.

49

Project Title

Network Navigation

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

3 (outline business case)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Background
4.149 The Network Navigation project forms part of the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme, a £173.5 million programme using devolved
Department for Transport funding supplemented with contributions from Leeds
City Council and the Combined Authority. This programme aims to support
economic growth by unlocking transport constraints, improve public transport
journey times and usage and improve health outcomes by reducing overall
transport emissions.
4.150 This scheme is one of 10 projects within the bus delivery workstream that aims
to improve accessibility to the bus network across the communities of Leeds.
The scheme is seeking to respond to feedback from the Leeds Transport
Conversation and West Yorkshire Bus Strategy that called for the provision of
better bus route information and an increase in the availability of bus service
information. The principles for the scheme were identified as a key outcome
for the programme by the West Yorkshire Transport Committee.
4.151 The scheme addresses the current issues of poor legibility and disjointed
presentation by ensuring high frequency and strategic bus services are easily
recognisable and the network is presented as unified, accessible and easy to
navigate. This will improve existing and potential bus users’ ability to identify
bus routes via easy to navigate Leeds network maps and associated corridors
making the bus offer more attractive.
4.152 This scheme aims to deliver a package of user friendly, highly visible materials
to help customers identify and navigate the bus network in Leeds. It will
improve transport accessibility and user experience by providing a userfriendly and accessible network map, linked to new colour coded bus stop
flags and shelters. The scheme sits alongside various complimentary
measures for infrastructure within the LPTIP and TCF programmes. It is
proposed that on completion of Leeds, the scheme will be rolled out across the
rest of West Yorkshire, through other funding opportunities.
4.153 A summary of the scheme’s business case, proposed core network Leeds Bus
Map and example infrastructure is included in Appendix 9.

50

Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.154 This scheme directly does not have climate change implications, however, as
an overarching network navigation tool for the various infrastructure
improvement schemes part of LPTIP and TCF programmes, this scheme aims
at promoting the use of sustainable transport mode which supports the clean
growth and climate change priorities.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.155 The outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications of the scheme will
include


A unified, easy to navigate core Leeds network map and associated
corridor maps to be displayed on-street and digitally



Enhancements to approximately 1,624 bus shelters including
approximately 771 coloured bus stop flags that are highly recognisable to
the customer



Colour added to the bus shelters with named key locations, so
passengers find it easier to identify their current location



Revised presentation of roadside timetables to make it easier for
passengers to understand when and where their bus services are
travelling.

4.156 The scheme presents a BCR of 3.76 which represents high value for money.
4.157 The principles developed within this workstream will eventually be applied
across the core bus network for the rest of West Yorkshire through other
funding programmes. This also includes applying the Network Map and
Corridor routes to digital formats.
Risks
4.158 The key risk to the delivery of the scheme and associated mitigation measures
is: 

Future changes to infrastructure integration e.g. service changes which
mean on-street infrastructure (e.g. bus flags) may need to be changed.
This is mitigated by developing a maintenance agreement with operators.

Costs
4.159 The total cost of the scheme is £1.8 million. The Combined Authority will fund
100% of this cost from the devolved DfT Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme.
4.160 The scheme requires approval of development costs of £150,000 to bring the
business case to FBC+ stage. The scheme has programme level approved
development costs of £100,000 taking the total project approval to £250,000.

51

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

3 (outline business case)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

05/02/2020

Decision: Combined Authority
5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

01/08/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales


Scheme commences in August 2020



Scheme completion March 2021

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That the total project cost remains within 10% of the costs identified within this report.
That the project delivery timescale remains within three months of the timescales identified
within this report.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Dave Pearson

Project Manager

Helen Ellerton

Combined Authority case officer

Ian McNichol

Appraisal Summary
4.161 The scheme has a strong strategic case in the LPTIP Bus Infrastructure
Package which aims to address congestion and disjointed presentation of the
high frequency and strategic bus network by making bus offer easy to access
and more attractive therefore encouraging modal shift on key routes into the
city centre.
4.162 The economic case for the scheme takes account of a range of different
options and the value for money position (captured by the preferred scheme
BCR of 3.76:1) will be further refined as detailed scheme designs come
forward at the next stage of the assurance.
4.163 The scheme is part of the established governance, programme and project
management arrangements for LPTIP. The approach to risk and mitigation is

52

appropriate to the scale and complexity of the scheme and the overall delivery
programme appears reasonable.
Recommendations
4.164 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Network Navigation (Leeds) scheme proceeds through decision
point 3 (outline business case) and work commences on activity 5 (Full
Business Case plus cost).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £1.8 million is given
from the LPTIP fund with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (Full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)

Development costs of £150,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 5 (Full business case with finalised costs),
taking the total project approval to £250,000.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

53

Project Title

Moorthorpe Rail Car Park

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

5 (full business case with finalised costs)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background
4.165 As part of the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF), a programme of
car park extensions at rail stations was identified to enhance connectivity to,
from, and within West Yorkshire. This scheme is part of phase 1 of the
programme.,
4.166 The current car park at Moorthorpe rail station can accommodate 45 vehicles,
albeit the land is predominantly gravel, with only 18 lined spaces. Capacity
audits since 2014 reflect the car park reaches 99% capacity by 9am on most
term time weekdays and given growth in rail demand is set to continue, this
scheme provides opportunity to deliver a modern, fit for purpose car park that
supports the growth.
4.167 The car park is to be constructed entirely within Network Rail land and will
increase the free rail car parking offer to 102 spaces, including 6 blue badge
bays. Additionally, the scheme will deliver enhanced draining infrastructure,
CCTV, LED lighting, and provision of electrical ducting for two future electric
charging bays.
4.168 Scheme delivery will support priority area 4 ‘infrastructure for growth’ of the
Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), with the increase to secure
parking enhancing access via rail to employment, education, and retail
opportunities across West Yorkshire and the City Region.
4.169 The scheme has come forward at full business with finalised costs (activity 5)
with total scheme costs of £778,551, to be funded from the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund (WY+TF).
4.170 The Combined Authority will enter into a Section 56 funding agreement with
Arriva Rail North for expenditure up to £635,000 from the WY+TF.

54

4.171 The Combined Authority will enter into a Basic Asset Protection Agreement
(BAPA) with Network Rail for £32,000.
4.172 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 10.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.173 The scheme will contribute to the delivery of a low emission transport system
with the station car park extension enabling more users to access free secure
parking, and as a result complete onward journeys to employment, education,
or retail via the rail network.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.174 The scheme outputs and benefits include:


An increase to the free parking capacity by 57 spaces, enabling the car
park to accommodate 102 vehicles, including 6 blue badge bays.



A modern, fit for purpose car park with enhanced draining infrastructure,
CCTV, LED lighting, and provision of electrical ducting for two future
electric charging bays.



An increase in rail patronage through enhancing the parking capacity.



A reduction to overall journey times through better access to secure
parking and to the rail network.



Support a reduction to carbon emissions with commuters choosing rail
for onward journeys.



A benefit cost ratio of 2.8:1 judging the scheme as high value for money
when assessed against the Department for Transport’s value for money
criteria.



Support to the inclusive growth principle of a better quality of life by
enhancing access to employment, education, and retail opportunities
through a more sustainable transport mode.

Risks
4.175 The scheme risks are:


Unknown or unidentified site conditions or contamination from hazardous
waste materials. Site surveys completed shows no significant finds.
Contractor to monitor as part of works. Waste to be disposed following
guidance and regulations.



Presence of buried services requiring rerouting. To be mitigated through
contractor surveys.



Risk from works adjacent to live railway line (platform edge) or overhead
line equipment. Appropriate works plan to be put in place to avoid /
mitigate this risk.

55

Costs
4.176 The scheme costs are:


The total forecast scheme cost is £778,551, to be wholly funded by the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF).

4.177 The total scheme cost (£778,551) is less than the revised baseline allocation
(£1.08 million) recommended by the Investment Committee to the Combined
Authority on 09 January 2020. Combined Authority are being requested to
approve the revised baseline allocations on 06 February 2020.
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

06/02/2020

6 (delivery)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority
25/12/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales


Approval and signing of the Section 56 agreement is forecast for
February 2020.



Construction commence is forecast for March 2020.



Practical completion is forecast for December 2020.

Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That any scheme cost increase remains within 10% of costs set out.
That the delivery programme remains within 3 months of timescales set out.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Dave Haskins, Combined Authority.

Project Manager

John Huxall, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Asif Abed

56

Appraisal Summary
4.178 The strategic drivers have been well presented with the promoter establishing
the scheme as one of 14 sites identified as part of the transport fund’s phase 1
rail car park programme, with the car park extension to enhance access and
connectivity to rail in line with local and regional transport policies, as well as
priority area 4 ‘infrastructure for growth’ of the Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic Plan.
4.179 The commercial, management and financial cases have also been adequately
demonstrated, with the business case reflecting the project delivery team and
governance structure is in place, the conclusion to the contractor procurement
process (tender evaluation and award), and scheme affordability with total
scheme costs within the WY+TF budget of the phase 1 rail car park
programme.
4.180 The value for money assessment has been suitably presented, with appraisal
indicating the scheme will deliver high value for money.
Recommendations
4.181 The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Moorthorpe Rail Car Park project proceeds through decision point 5
and work commences on activity 6 (Delivery).

(ii)

Approval to the total project value of £778,551 million is given from the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(iii)

Approval for the Combined Authority to enter into a Section 56 Funding
Agreement with Arriva Rail North for expenditure of up to £635,000
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(iv) Approval for the Combined Authority to enter into a Basic Asset
Protection Agreement with Network Rail for £32,000.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

57

Project Title

Superfast Broadband West Yorkshire and York
Contract 3

Stage

2 (development)

Decision Point

Change request (activity 3)

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Background
4.182 Open market review (OMR) of 2017 commissioned by the Combined Authority
and the Council partners outlined the extent of existing broadband
infrastructure and areas where there is a market failure but no commercial
investment plans for broadband infrastructure in the next three years.
Furthermore, OMR defined the need for public intervention and the areas
compliant for state aid across West Yorkshire and York region eligible to be
included in the scope of Superfast Broadband (SBWYY) Contract 3.
4.183 Superfast Broadband West Yorkshire and York Contract 3 programme aligns
with the Leeds City Region’s SEP priority 4 to build a 21st century physical and
digital infrastructure that supports the city region to grow and compete
globally. With this in view, SBWYY aims to deliver fast and reliable broadband
infrastructure in some of the hardest to reach areas of market failure which are
not currently targeted through a commercial roll out or were not targeted by
the previous phase (Contract 2) across the West Yorkshire and York
geography.
4.184 Creative and Digital as one of the key sectors of the city region has grown
faster than the wider economy in last five years and employs approximately
68,000 people spread across 11,000 businesses. This sector relies on high
quality digital infrastructure for its growth therefore substantiating need for
broadband infrastructure investment in the region.
4.185 The scheme will deliver superfast broadband connectivity of at least 30
megabits per second (mpbs) to eligible Small and Medium sized Enterprises
(SMEs) premises within eligible post code areas (referred to as ‘white
postcodes’) in West Yorkshire and York, facilitating growth and support in the
wider city region.
Description of Change Request
4.186 The Activity 3 Change Request approved in March 2019 focussed on
reduction in the external funding from BDUK and proportionate reduction in
outputs. Presently the scheme delivery is organised in two elements - urban

58

element funded by ESIF and rural element funded by DEFRA. Following
approval, the scheme invited tenders for both elements of delivery but, due to
low uptake in tender application, was not successful in procuring a suitable
contractor to deliver the urban element. Considering the strategic benefits of
the scheme to rural areas of market failure and to avoid any further delays the
promoters wish to award the contract and proceed with delivery for the rural
element of the scheme.
4.187 The Change request is to accept that the scheme delivers the superfast
broadband in rural market failure areas deploying broadband to approximately
1,723 businesses promoting its infrastructure growth. This element is funded
by DEFRA. As a result, the change request is also to accept the pro-rata
reduction in outputs as detailed in the outputs section below.
Clean Growth / Climate Change Implications
4.188 There is no direct impact on the clean growth or climate change implications
of this change request.
Outputs, Benefits and Inclusive Growth Implications
4.189 The key output of the scheme will be providing superfast broadband access to
approximately 1,723 businesses in rural areas of West Yorkshire and York.
4.190 The scheme focusses on providing digital skills for all and giving everyone
access to the skills they need to operate and thrive in a digital economy and
tackling digital exclusion.
4.191 The scheme’s wider social benefits include improving the sustainability of local
businesses, future mobility, independent living and enabling expansion and
increased access to employment.
Risks
4.192 Delivery costs (per premise) may rise during Phase 3 due to more challenging
geographies. This will be mitigated by the cap per premise clause in the
contract with the successful bidder.
4.193 Areas targeted by the ESIF/ERDF funding will not receive superfast
broadband. This is mitigated by the fact that many broadband infrastructure
suppliers will be deploying in the urban/semi-urban areas of WY&Y on a
commercial basis with no need for public sector incentives.
Costs
4.194 The change request has not incurred any additional costs to the scheme.

59

Funding

Decision
Point 2
Cost £
(Millions)

Business Rate Pool Allocation

Change
Request
(March 2019)
Cost £
(Millions)

Change
Request
Cost £
(Millions)

0.090

0.090

0.090

DEFRA Rural Broadband Initiative
Funding Bid

9.912

6.898

6.898

ESIF / ERDF Capital: Funding Bid

2.810

1.572

0

Up to 1.700

Up to 1.572

0

1.110

0

0

15.532

10.042

6.898

ESIF / ERDF Revenue: Funding
Bid

0.386

0.270

0

Combined Authority (BET Refund)

0.310

0.316

0.366

Business Rate Pool Allocation

0.076

0.076

0

0.034

0.034

0.062

0.806

0.696

0.428

16.428

10.828

7.326

(Project Development and
Procurement Costs)
Capital

Contract One Gainshare
Broadband Delivery UK (Grant
Confirmed)
Capital Total
Revenue

(ESIF / ERDF Revenue Match
Funding)
Business Rate Pool Allocation
(Additional Revenue Funding)
Revenue Total
Total

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route
Assurance pathway

Approval route

Forecast
approval date

Change request (activity
3)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

05/02/2020

Decision: Investment Committee
5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

60

13/03/2020

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Other Key Timescales
4.195 The timescales of the scheme are that the FBC+ will be brought forward in
February 2020 and the phase 3 delivery commences April 2020 which
concludes in April 2022.
Assurance Tolerances
Assurance tolerances
That the project delivery timescale remains within 12 months of the timescales identified
within this report.
That the outputs that are forecast remain within 10% of the output set out in this report.

Project Responsibilities
Senior Responsible Officer

Kate Thompson, Combined Authority

Project Manager

John Bullivent, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Namrata Chhabra

Appraisal Summary
4.196 The scheme fits with Priority 4 in the Strategic Economic Plan to support
infrastructure improvements in the areas which are not part of commercial
plans and supports development of creative industries. It is part of a
programme of broadband delivery projects which have had considerable
success in delivering benefits to the City Region. There is clear evidence that
increasing internet speeds improves the sustainability of local businesses and
allows expansion and increased employment. The Combined Authority
partners have a good knowledge and experience of delivering this type of
scheme and has well established suppliers, so is confident in delivering the
project competently within budget and timescale.
Recommendations
4.197 That Investment Committee approves:
(i)

The change request to the SBWYY Contract 3 project to deliver the rural
element at the total project value to £7.276 million is approved.

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £7.276 million from the
funding sources outlined in this report for which the Combined Authority
is the accountable body is given, with full approval to spend being
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process
to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)

61

(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision 5 (full
business case with finalised costs) through a delegation to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.

62

5

Financial implications

5.1

The report seeks endorsement to expenditure from the available Combined
Authority funding as set out in this report.

6

Legal implications

6.1

The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement
being in place between the Combined Authority and the organisation in
question.

7

Staffing implications

7.1

A combination of Combined Authority and local Partner Council project,
programme and portfolio management resources are or are in the process of
being identified and costed for within the schemes in this report.

8

External consultees

8.1

Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of
this report.

9

Recommendations
York City Centre Access Improvements

9.1

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The York City Centre Access Improvements scheme proceeds through
decision point 2 (strategic outline case) and work commences on activity
3 (outline business case).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £8.1 million is given
from the West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5.

(iii)

Development costs of £355,000 approved in order to progress the
scheme to activity 3 (outline business case).

(iv) The Combined Authority enters into a Funding Agreement with City of
York Council for expenditure of up to £355,000 from the West Yorkshireplus Transport Fund.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances set out in this report.

63

Leeds City Region Future Mobility Zone
9.2

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority:
(i)

That the Future Mobility Zone (FMZ) programme proceeds through
Decision Point 2 and work commences on the development of business
cases for individual packages

(ii)

An indicative approval to £30.793 million, which will be funded from the
Local Transport Plan (£2.75 million), the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme (£0.763 million) and the Department for
Transport FMZ fund (£27.28 million) is given with full approval to spend
being granted as individual scheme or packages have progressed
through the Assurance Process to Decision Point 5. The total programme
cost is £32.01 million, including £1.22 million from District Partners.

(iii)

An approval for development funding of £2.01 million be made to enable
initial work on outline business cases for individual packages, subject to
DfT funding being announced.

(iv) That future programme approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in this report including at
Decision Point 6 and 7 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the
scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report
Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation
9.3

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation Scheme proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business case)

(ii)

Development costs of £1.9 million are approved in order to progress the
scheme to activity 4 (full business case) from the Local Growth Fund.
The total project value is £27.283 million.

(iii)

The Combined Authority enters into a Funding Agreement with the
Environment Agency for development expenditure of up to £1.9 million
from the Local Growth fund.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

64

Corn Exchange Gateway
9.4

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Corn Exchange Gateway project proceeds through decision point 3
and work commences on activity 4 (FBC).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £24.7
million is given, with £18.6 million to be funded through the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme and £6.1 million from the West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, with full approval to spend being granted
once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (FBC with finalised costs). The total project value is
£25.6 million.

(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and
5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Enterprise Zone: Parry Lane
9.5

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The EZ Parry Lane scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(ii)

The total cost of the scheme is £18.88 million. An indicative approval to
the Combined Authority’s contribution of £8.081 million through the Local
Growth Fund is given, with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)

Development costs of £540,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 4 (full business case).

(iv) Approval is given to enter into a Funding Agreement with the City of
Bradford District & Metropolitan Council in order to assist in the
development of the full business case for up to £540,000.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 and
5 through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Leeds Inland Port
9.6

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

65

(i)

The Leeds Inland Port project proceeds through decision point 3 and
work commences on activity 4 (Full business case).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £3.17
million is given, to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund, with full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has
progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (FBC with
finalised costs). The total project value is £3.37 million.

(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report, including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway
9.7

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway project proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(ii)

Indicative approval to the total project value of £5 million has been given
from the LPTIP fund with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)

The development costs of £4.5 million are approved in order to progress
the scheme to decision point 4 (Full business case), taking the total
project approval to £5 million.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report, including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team (subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances
outlined in this report), with decision point 5 approval through a
delegation to the Investment Committee following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team.
Network Navigation
9.8

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Network Navigation (Leeds) scheme proceeds through decision
point 3 (outline business case) and work commences on activity 5 (Full
Business Case plus cost).

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £1.8 million is given
from the LPTIP fund with full approval to spend being granted once the

66

scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (Full business case with finalised costs).
(iii)

Development costs of £150,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 5 (Full business case with finalised costs),
taking the total project approval to £250,000.

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.
Moorthorpe Rail Car Park
9.9

The Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:
(i)

The Moorthorpe Rail Car Park project proceeds through decision point 5
and work commences on activity 6 (Delivery).

(ii)

Approval to the total project value of £778,551 million is given from the
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(iii)

Approval for the Combined Authority to enter into a Section 56 Funding
Agreement with Arriva Rail North for expenditure of up to £635,000
million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

(iv) Approval for the Combined Authority to enter into a Basic Asset
Protection Agreement with Network Rail for £32,000.
(v)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

Superfast West Yorkshire and York Contract 3
9.10

That Investment Committee approves:
(i)

The change request to the SBWYY Contract 3 project to deliver the rural
element at the total project value to £7.276 million.

(ii)

An indicative approval to the total project value of £7.276 million from the
funding sources outlined in this report for which the Combined Authority
is the accountable body is given, with full approval to spend being
granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process
to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)

(iii)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision 5 (full

67

business case with finalised costs) through a delegation to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report.
10

Background documents

10.1

None as part of this report.

11

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Background
Appendix 2 - BC Summary - York City Centre Access Improvements
Appendix 3 - BC Summary - Future Mobility Zones
Appendix 4 - BC Summary - Hebden Bridge Flood Alleviation Scheme
Appendix 5 - BC Summary - Corn Exchange Gateway
Appendix 6 - BC Summary - Parry Lane Enterprise Zone
Appendix 7 - BC Summary - Leeds Inland Port
Appendix 8 - BC Summary - Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway Station
Appendix 9 - BC Summary - Network Navigation
Appendix 10 - BC Summary - Moorthorpe Station Car Park

68

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

Appendix

1 (Background to the report)

Subject:

Capital Spending and Project Approvals

Information
This report puts forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a
number of schemes for approval by the Combined Authority, following
consideration by the West Yorkshire and York’s Investment Committee. The
Combined Authority will recall that a three stage approach has been
introduced as part of an enhancement to current project management
arrangements, with the requirement that all projects subject to minor
exceptions as detailed in the assurance framework, will as a minimum, need to
formally pass decision point 2 (case paper approval) and 5 (final cost
approval) highlighted below, with the requirement to meet the intervening
activities deemed on a project by project basis.

The Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) appraises all schemes at the decision
points. The PAT consists of an independent panel of officers representing
policy, legal, financial, assurance and delivery. The scheme promoters from
our partner councils or partner delivery organisations attend the meeting to
introduce the scheme and answer questions from the panel. The terms of
reference for the PAT are contained within the Leeds City Region Assurance
Framework.
Future assurance and approval route
The tables for each scheme in the main report outlines the proposed
assurance process and corresponding approval route for the scheme. The
assurance pathway sets out the decision points which the scheme must
progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of the scheme. The
approval route indicates which committees or officers will make both a
recommendation and approval of the scheme at each decision point. A
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has
received prior approval from the Combined Authority.

69

Tolerances
In order for the scheme to follow the assurance pathway and approval route
that is proposed in this report, it should remain within the tolerances outlined
for each scheme. If these tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to
return to Investment Committee and/or the Combined Authority for further
consideration.

70

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2
Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of Scheme:

York City Centre Access Improvements

Location of Scheme:

South east quadrant of York city centre, centred on YO???

PMO Scheme Code:

WYTF-PA4-044

Lead Organisation:

City of York Council

Senior Responsible
Officer:

James Gilchrist

Lead Promoter Contact:

Julian Ridge

Combined Authority Lead/
Programme Manager:

Andrew Norman

Case Officer:

Heather Briggs

Applicable Funding
Stream(s) – Grant or Loan:

West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund

Growth Fund Priority Area
(if applicable):
Combined Authority
approvals to date:

SARG approval as at May 2019, including a funding allocation of
£55,000 towards developing the Strategic Outline Case for the project.
Decision Point Certificate confirming the date 25th October 2019.

Forecasted Full Approval
Date (Decision Point 5):

October 2020

Forecasted Completion
Date (Decision Point 6):

February 2022

Total Scheme Cost for the
preferred way forward (£):

£8.1 million

WYCA Funding (£):

£8.1 million- West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund

Total other public sector
investment (£):

N/A

Total other private sector
investment (£):

N/A

Is this a standalone
Project?

No

Is this a Programme?

No

Is this Project part of an
agreed Programme?

Yes – Castle Gateway developments

71

A.1

Scheme Description

This scheme will contribute to the redevelopment of the Castle Gateway area in the south eastern
quarter of York City Centre. This scheme will support the delivery of the Castle Gateway Masterplan by
repurposing public space, improving accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists and increasing active
mode travel.
The scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.

A.2

Business Case Summary

Strategic Case
The scheme has a strategic fit with the following national, regional and local policies, plans and
strategies:










National Planning Policy Framework
West Yorkshire Transport Strategy
Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan
West Yorkshire Bus Strategy
Third West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan
York Economic Strategy 2016-2020 choosing a better story
York Local Transport Plan 2011
The Strategy for York 2011-2025
City of York Cycling City Strategy 2008

Castle Gateway is the south eastern quarter of York City Centre (comprising the area of land around
the base of Clifford’s Tower, Clifford Street, Tower Street, Coppergate, Piccadilly and the confluence of
the rivers Ouse and Foss) and is currently undergoing extensive regeneration. Although (according to
2011 census data) 40% of commuting trips to York City Centre are by active modes, access to and
through this area by active modes is poor.
The Castle Gateway area is bisected by the York’s Inner Ring Road (IRR) (A1036) which is in the form
of a dual carriageway at its passes through the Castle Gateway area. The IRR is heavily congested
during peak periods. Formal crossing opportunities on the Inner Ring Road in the vicinity of the Castle
Gateway are relatively limited, with the nearest signalised crossing located 200m south east of the site
at Fishergate Gyratory. This lack of crossing opportunities and the width of, and level of traffic on, the
road result in severance issues in this area of central York and creates an unpleasant environment for
cyclists and pedestrians, which we seek to counter through this bid by improving crossing facilities.
In terms of public transport access to the Castle Gateway, the area (including Piccadilly and Stonebow)
is currently served by 5 of the city’s 6 park and ride services, as well as many local bus services. It is
estimated that around one quarter of all bus trips in York begin or end in the Castle Gateway area.
Despite this level of service, bus stop facilities are relatively dated and poor and are in need of
refurbishment in order to maintain existing passenger numbers and attract new users in line with CYC’s
adopted Local Transport Plan.
Castle Car Park, which is located at the foot of Clifford’s Tower, is currently located in an area of
historical significance in proximity to the city centre. The car park currently generates approximately
2,000 daily car movements which contribute to severance and emissions in York City Centre. The
surfacing of the car park is currently in a state of disrepair. It is assumed that the maintenance costs of
any proposed scheme would be the same as required to maintain the existing car park
Economic Case

72

As part of the master planning process, a website was set up (My Castle Gateway), and events
undertaken, which sought to understand the views of the public on the Gateway area and what they
thought were the priorities for the area’s development. The views of the public then helped to shape
BDP’s Masterplan for the Castle Gateway, which was presented to City of York Council in April 2018.
Prior to the presentation to the council, the public were again consulted on the main ‘Castle Gateway
Ideas’, which resulted in an updated ‘public brief, thus ensuring that the masterplan is a direct reflection
of the public vision of the area.
A high-level assessment of the potential monetised benefits for the do-something and do-maximum
options suggest that they would fall between a poor and a low value for money category with highway
disbenefits included, tending towards low with the highway disbenefits excluded. The do-minimum has
a negative value for money category with the highway disbenefits included, and a poor value for money
with these disbenefits excluded.
Benefits would be realised from the following:
• Increases in pedestrian and cycling use of the Castle Gateway area;
• journey time savings for pedestrians and cyclists due to new facilities to cross the Inner Ring Road
and River Foss;
• Additional revenue to the Council from renting out space on the Castle Car Park site;
• Amenity benefits to pedestrians and cyclists due to the public realm improvements; and
• Amenity and journey time benefits to existing and new bus users.
Identified disbenefits would result from:
• Additional pedestrian walking time due to the relocation of Castle Car Park to St George’s Field; and
• Delay to traffic along the Inner Ring Road due to the introduction of the signalised pedestrian
crossing.
Commercial Case:
Based on City of York Council’s experience in the delivery of recent transport projects, there is a
healthy appetite in the construction industry in York and surrounds for infrastructure schemes and
hence City of York Council does not anticipate an issues with the ability of the market to provide the
required outputs.
The funding sought will support the regeneration of a part of York with relatively low amenity at present.
As such it will improve York’s “sense of place” and attract inward investment to Leeds City Region,
particularly supporting the clusters of agri-tech/ bioeconomy employment at York University and east of
York, and a growing financial sector in York. The investment will also support the further growth of
tourism in York, and of York’s city centre retail sector. It will support the growth and expansion of a
number of city centre attractions, including Clifford’s Tower, York Castle Museum and the Merchant
Adventurers’ Hall, all of which are within the regeneration area.
Stakeholder feedback from the Masterplan consultation to date has clearly indicated support for the
relocation and reallocation of the space occupied by the Castle Car Park, and a desire to improve the
ways that sustainable mode users can cross the IRR and the River Foss.
The construction works will be procured by the Council and will be subject to OJEU rules. All evaluation
methodology will be aligned to procurement policy and will be compliant with industry best practice and
EU legislation.
Financial Case
The cost ranges for the shortlisted options are:
• Business as Usual = £750,000 - £1. 250 million
• Do Minimum = £1. 582million - £2.637million
• Less Ambitious = £6.,075million - £10.,125million [Preferred Way Forward]
• More Ambitious = £11.812 million - £19.,687 million

Management Case

73

Governance / Organisational Structure
City of York Council has the project management systems, skills and track record to be able to deliver
this project successfully. They will be supported by an assigned Programme Manager from the
Combined Authority who will work in partnership with City of York Council to ensure the allocated
funding is available to the project at required milestones to deliver the identified junction improvements.
The Council has robust financial monitoring systems and procurement credentials as demonstrated by
many years of delivering externally funded projects and including highway / transport schemes.
The general approach to monitoring will be in line with the DfT’s document “Monitoring and Evaluation
Framework for Local Authority Major Schemes”. The Project Manager will have overall responsibility for
monitoring and evaluating the scheme post completion. The benefits created by the scheme will be
reported annually.
Key Risks
Key risks identified include not securing planning permission for the St George’s Field multi-storey car
park or the Castle Mills developments (not part of the scheme, but influential on relocating the Castle
Car Park)
Linkage to other schemes
The scheme links to and is complementary to the following schemes:


The York Better Bus Area Programme



The York Station Front Scheme



The Scarborough Bridge improvement

The York City Centre Access Improvements scheme is not reliant on either of these schemes (nor are
they on the York City Centre Access Improvement scheme), but will complement the committed
investment in these schemes by increasing the proportion of trips into/ out of and through the city
centre by sustainable modes.
Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement
Extensive consultation and engagement has taken place since June 2017 as part of the York Gateway
Masterplan development.
The My Castle Gateway conversation was started in June 2017. In November 2017 the Masterplan
ideas were made public and feedback was sought through a variety of different platforms (online
surveys, social media, drop in events). Stakeholders were asked to provide inputs with regards to
public spaces, movement, living well with water and ownership and values.
Under Public Spaces, stakeholders provided a large number of comments with regards to the closure
of Castle Car Park, with the majority supporting the closure and relocation.
Under movement, the stakeholders indicated a desire to cross the Inner Ring Road and to use it to
connect to the city centre and Skeldergate Bridge, and a desire to cross more easily from the
Walmgate area (east of the Gateway across the River Foss) in the Castle Area

74

75

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3

Section A: Scheme Summary

Name of Scheme:

Leeds City Region Future Mobility Zone (funding bid to DfT)

Location of Scheme:

Leeds City Region

PMO Scheme Code:

DFT-FMZ-001

Lead Organisation:

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Senior Responsible
Officer:

Liz Hunter

Lead Promoter Contact:

Kate Gifford

Combined Authority Lead/
Programme Manager:

Kate Gifford

Case Officer:

Jonathan Rogers / Ian McNichol
DfT – The Future Mobility Zone (FMZ) bid ask is for £27.28 million (in
the full package)
LPTIP (Connecting Leeds) – allocation of up to £762,500 for East Leeds
Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) scheme

Applicable Funding
Stream(s) – Grant or Loan:

LTP – an allocation of £2 million has been made to support demand
responsive transport schemes which has been included as match
funding in the FMZ bid. £750,000 has been allocated to the development
of a Mobility as a Service (MaaS) app and this was also included as
match funding in the FMZ bid. The LTP programme was approved by
Transport Committee in April 2019.
Calderdale Council CIP allocation - £500,000
Section 106 contributions – £297,500

Growth Fund Priority Area
(if applicable):
Combined Authority
approvals to date:

N/A
The FMZ submission to DfT made on 30 Sept 2019 was approved by
Ben Still and Cllr Groves under delegated approval from Transport
Committee.
The Strategic Assessment for the FMZ bid was approved at the SARG
meeting on 16 May 2019.

Forecasted Full Approval
Date (Decision Point 5):

This will be dependent upon the date of the funding announcement from
DfT

Forecasted Completion
Date (Decision Point 6):

This will be dependent upon the date of the funding announcement from
DfT

Total Scheme Cost for the
preferred way forward (£):

£31.75 million

77

DfT – The Future Mobility Zone (FMZ) bid ask is for £27.28 million (in
the full package)
LPTIP (Connecting Leeds) – allocation of up to £762,500 for East Leeds
DRT
WYCA Funding (£):

LTP – an allocation of £2 million has been made to support demand
responsive transport schemes which has been included as match
funding in the FMZ bid. £750,000 has been allocated to the development
of a MaaS app and this was also included as match funding in the FMZ
bid.

Total other public sector
investment (£):

Calderdale Council CIP allocation - £500,000

Total other private sector
investment (£):

£297,000 in Section 106 contributions

Is this a standalone
Project?

No, it is a package.

Is this a Programme?

This SOC is for the FMZ package as a whole.

Is this Project part of an
agreed Programme?

No

A.1

Scheme Description

Our region has four priorities: enabling inclusive growth; boosting productivity; delivering 21st Century
transport; and enabling clean growth including being net zero-carbon by 2038. To achieve these
ambitions, we have adopted transport strategy targets, which focus on increasing sustainable and active
public transport modes and reducing numbers of car trips.
Through this final submission, we have listened to the DfT feedback, to evolve our bid to create a
unique innovative package which uses world-class technologies to transform the mobility offer for some
of our hardest to reach urban and rural communities: our communities of greatest economic need.
Our objectives for FMZ are designed to help us realise our ambition, as it will:
 Support Inclusive Growth through improving equity of access to transport / mobility services.
People need good transport and mobility to be economically active and productive. Our FMZ will
improve transport for all, and reduce barriers to mobility for people who are currently excluded;
 Deliver transformed innovative local connectivity, particularly between deprived communities
and employment / skills opportunities;
 Address the affordability of public transport, particularly for low-income workers, jobseekers and
those in areas of deprivation;
 Utilise new technologies to encourage the transition to low carbon and sustainable mobility
modes, reducing transportrelated emissions and contributing to the City Region achieving its
ambition to be net zero carbon by 2038; Ensure digital and financial inclusion is at the heart of
the development of new solutions to help boost productivity.
The DfT investment in our FMZ submission will fund:
 A regional ‘Mobility as a Service’ platform;
 A programme of mobility credits;
 Innovative digital demand responsive services;

78



A.2

Next generation Mobility Hubs to enable access to services;
Dynamic network management to manage future kerb and road-space mobility more effectively.
Business Case Summary

Strategic Case
The FMZ will address the following key issues:
- Removing barriers to transport and mobility access for those people for whom the cost of travel is a
major issue – through streamlining booking and payment systems (including for the digitally and
banking excluded), underpinned by a suite of mobility credits.
- Focusing transport provision and access at established nodes within different challenging urban, periurban and semi-rural geographies to test modal shift, through the provision of mobility hubs.
- Reducing private vehicle usage, improving utilisation and demonstrating the benefits of access vs
ownership through the provision of on-demand transport options.
- Tackling local connectivity issues, particularly between emerging centres of jobs and opportunities
through the provision of digitally-enabled dynamic demand responsive services.
- Improving transport connectivity in poorly served rural areas by providing on-demand services that
link into the existing core transport network.
- Addressing access issues in an historic city centre, particularly for those with specific mobility needs
and challenges through provision of on-demand services.
- Providing faster, more reliable journey times for hard-to-reach areas through a combination of
dynamic demand responsive services and data-led traffic management techniques.
We have four strategic priorities as illustrated in Figure 1. To achieve these from a transport perspective,
we have a series of interim targets for the transport system, which focus on delivering on increasing
sustainable and active public transport modes and reducing car trips.
Figure 1: Leeds City Region Priorities

Our FMZ is designed to support regional priorities and targets as stated above and these objectives will
also help contribute to the objectives of our large TCF bid, particularly in terms of improving access to
employment opportunities and contributing towards inclusive growth.

79

Economic Case
There is currently little evidence that the market alone (within the UK or globally) would be able to deliver
the projects outlined within this FMZ bid. While many of the interventions included within our FMZ have
been delivered elsewhere in part, we would argue that the commercial realities of interventions could be
somewhat different from perception. As we have seen, there have been numerous market failures, either
because the business models were incorrect for the markets served, or that too little consideration was
given to local needs and conditions.
In preparing this bid we have thought long and hard about these matters. We believe that an approach
where the public sector (in our case the Combined Authority and its partners) who understand those
local conditions, needs and expectations implicitly, create an environment to pump-prime, pilot and
encourage third parties to engage, is the recipe for sustained success and a new Business As Usual.
With this thinking in mind, below we outline the areas where we believe that intervention is essential to
deliver the overall objectives set out in this bid, those of the FMZ fund (within the broad parameters set
out on the Future of Mobility: Urban Strategy) and potentially those of UK and international colleagues
wrestling with similar challenges
MaaS – while the market is moving towards delivery of some elements of MaaS, this has not yet been
successfully achieved at-scale within the UK marketplace. Learning to date has been valuable, as have
those of international deployments and we will build upon these. The objectives we have outlined in this
bid – particularly around addressing social need (including digital and financial inclusion and ensuring
that those with disabilities are also included in the technology solutions developed) would not necessary
be delivered by the market. Market-led implementation of MaaS has, to date, focused on the sectors of
society where greatest commercial profit can be gained and this generally does not include the most
vulnerable and those on low incomes. The market engagement that we have undertaken with MaaS
providers via the PIN notice indicates that the market is generally focused on delivery where the
commercial gains are likely to be greatest. Importantly, we have not been able to find any at-scale
examples of mobility credits operating through apps or smart cards, which means our FMZ would enable
Leeds City Region to deliver the first example of this in the UK, if not globally. Investment in MaaS, at
scale, carefully specified to meet the needs of the City Region, in close collaboration with commercial
providers would provide the laser sharp focus necessary for sustained success and social value.
DRT – The commercial applications of demand responsive transport currently focus on urban areas
where the opportunities for commercial return are highest. While headline data seems to be impressive
in terms of journey times and modal shift, this obscures any potential negative issues relating to
exclusion. The implementations of DRT proposed within this bid aim to test the concept in peri-urban
areas (fringing some rural areas) and locations where the social objectives of the schemes will make it
more difficult to operate the service on the purely commercial models largely adopted to date. This
distinction is important. We believe that with the right specification DRT (especially downstream once
autonomy is a reality) could unlock whole swathes of the market that have been abandoned over recent
decades. Our market engagement with DRT suppliers suggests that operators are at an early stage of
implementing DRT elsewhere in the UK and there is still some fluidity in the commercial models being
adopted. Our FMZ makes the direct link between socio-economic needs, potential markets and the
significant opportunities that DRT provides. There could be considerable, translateable learning
opportunities from the establishment of the interventions in the specific locations we have outlined within
this bid.
Mobility hubs – Like many city regions across the UK the Leeds City Region has a long history of
developing and implementing multi modal interchanges, an interactive process that started in the 1970s
and 1980s. However, the mobility landscape has changed, as has the shape form and use of our built
environments. The potential now exists for mobility to be the catalyst to reinvigorate our district centres
and high streets, to agglomerate transport and utility functions to not only reduce stress, friction and
inconvenience in people’s lives but importantly to reduce trip making and overall vehicle miles travelled.
In developing our mobility hub proposals, we have considered the City Region’s needs carefully. The
infrastructure elements of these mobility hubs would not normally be delivered by the market as
commercial providers do not generally have access to capital funding streams or the relevant powers to

80

enable the delivery of this type of infrastructure. Coupling our modular approach to mobility hubs with the
services proposed in our FMZ, underpinned by common branding, we will not only increase access but
also enhance commercialisation and long-term viability.
Dynamic Network Management – The infrastructure elements of our dynamic network management
would not be delivered by the market as commercial providers do not generally have access to capital
funding streams or the relevant powers to enable the delivery of this type of infrastructure. Indeed, cases
where private entities have made pre-emptive, innovation-led investment in local infrastructure are
almost non-existent
In the absence of funding from DfT, we would not be able to deliver the programme as set out within this
bid. While there are some smaller amount of funding available to the Combined Authority, these would
not be large enough to enable us to deliver schemes with the geographic scope suggested or at the
speed outlined in our delivery plan.
While our ambitions to deliver this programme remain strong, if we are not successful in being awarded
the funding we would ensure that the ambition that this programme represents is reflected in our
emerging Future Mobility Strategy.
Overview
The Leeds City Region FMZ will transform the way people travel. In doing so it is expected make a
significant positive contribution to the region’s economy. In broad terms, the FMZ programme has been
designed to:
 support economic growth (by reducing congestion and improving access to jobs, skills and
opportunities)
 reduce economic inequality (by improving accessibility for marginalised groups)
 reduce carbon emissions from transport
Reducing carbon emissions will itself bring real economic benefits. The Stern Report in 2010 made it
clear that the economic costs of climate change would far outweigh the costs of taking concerted action
to limit it. The government has agreed a set of carbon values to be used in policy appraisal and
evaluation.
Economic objectives
The Strategic Case (Section B) sets out our five objectives for the FMZ. All are associated in some way
with economic benefits for transport users and wider society, as described below:

81

A high-level assessment of the contribution of the FMZ programme against these objectives has been
undertaken. This is presented after a discussion of each of the FMZ components.
Please refer to the FMZ bid document already submitted for further detail.
Commercial Case
Details of market engagement undertaken
The FMZ bid has been developed in partnership with the districts within the City Region and with input
from key stakeholders, including potential suppliers and users of the proposed FMZ programme
elements.
We have undertaken pre-market engagement on the following areas of the bid, to help ensure that we
have access to the most up to date evidence on the benefits of the components proposed as part of the
FMZ. This has helped to inform both the economic case and monitoring and evaluation plans proposed
for this bid. We have also engaged with potential suppliers to help develop the budget outlined in this bid
and ensure that these costs are as robust as possible at this point.
Pre-market engagement with MaaS providers
We have engaged with potential MaaS providers through issuing a PIN notice in the European Journal
and have received a number of responses from UK and global entities,which have helped to inform our
bid. We also include letters of support from several organisations including Moovit, Yorcard, PTG, Fleet

82

on Demand and Masabi as included in Annex 8 to this document, demonstrating their willingness to
continue working with us (subject to a procurement process) to deliver our MaaS ambitions.
Engagement with demand responsive transport providers
Through the West Yorkshire Bus Alliance, the Combined Authority has an ongoing dialogue with the bus
industry regarding how we can best align the future mobility needs of Leeds City Region passengers
with next generation technology and service development in the industry.
We are currently undertaking a procurement process to select a supplier to deliver the demand
responsive transport service for East Leeds as described in this document. We have undertaken premarket engagement (via a PIN notice and supplier day) and are currently drafting the tender documents
for the service. We hope that the service will form one of the early deliverables of this fund and be
launched in early 2020. Through this process we have engaged with several potential operators and
have included letters of support from Arriva/ArrivaClick, First and ViaVan that demonstrate partners’
enthusiasm to help deliver DRT services as part of this bid (subject to the completion of the procurement
process).
For the DRT services we are considering developing a Dynamic Purchasing System which could (once
established) then be used to deliver the Wakefield DRT scheme and our pipeline of other DRT projects
across the City Region.
Other market engagement undertaken
- As part of the mobility hub proposal, Harrogate Borough Council has engaged with a number of car
club suppliers to test the viability of introducing a scheme based on small electric vehicles. Based on
an initial market viability assessment, Harrogate Borough Council has been able to secure letters
of support for its proposals from their existing current car club operator, Co-wheels and
Enterprise Car Club which currently deliver the West Yorkshire car club. We have also secured a
letter of support from Seat to work with us to provide vehicles for the Harrogate element of the
FMZ programme.
- Appy Parking is already operational in both Harrogate and Halifax. Appy parking and Liftshare have
both demonstrated that they would be willing to work in partnership and have provided letters of
support for the FMZ bid and expressed a high level of interest in the scheme. Lloyds Banking
Group has also provided a letter of support for the bid and has six sites across the City Region
where it would be prepared to work in partnership with Calderdale, Appy Parking and Liftshare to
deliver a programme of behaviour change and promote car sharing
- As part of the development of the mobility hub concept, Calderdale Council has already engaged with
potential partners including local car club operators Hourcar and Enterprise car club, which have
both provided letters to confirm that they would support the delivery of the bid.
- Leeds is already working with Vivacity to deliver a small-scale pilot of traffic signal optimisation in the
city and Vivacity has provided a letter of support indicating its willingness to work with both
Leeds and Calderdale to develop elements of the proposed FMZ.
- We have worked with academic partners at the Universities of Huddersfield, Leeds and York in the
development of this submission. We have received letters of support from all three institutions
indicating their willingness to continue working with us to develop our plans in further detail if
we are successful post-award.
Please refer to the FMZ bid document already submitted for further detail.
Financial Case
Table 1 below sets out the costs for both the full and core packages.
A risk/contingency figure of 20% in costs estimates and a 2% allowance for inflation.

83

The local / public sector contributions are from a combination of developer (Section 106) funding and
Local Transport Plan allocations. We will explore the potential for third-party contributions to the
programme as we develop the proposals in detail (if successful) post award. There has already been
interest from a number of MaaS suppliers and DRT operators expressed through the pre-market
engagement that we have undertaken and will also use the publicity around the bid submission to
develop interest with potential suppliers and operators for working in closer partnership going forwards.
All of the schemes included in this programme are scalable to some extent apart from the MaaS
development which covers the FMZ area. There are a number of elements that are reliant on the MaaS
platform, so this has been included in both the core and full costs.
Table 1: LCR FMZ Bid – full costs

Management Case
Table E1 – FMZ delivery programme

84

.

85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 4

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

Hebden Bridge FAS

PMO scheme code:
Lead organisation:

Environment Agency

Senior responsible
officer:

Liz Courtney

Lead promoter contact:

Christian Merriman

Case officer:

Ian McNichol

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Growth Deal 3- Grant

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority 4, Infrastructure for Growth

Approvals to date:

LCR Flood Alleviation for Growth Programme dp2 approval CA
29th June 2017

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

June 2023

Total scheme cost (£):

£27.283 million

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£1.900million

Total other public sector
investment (£):

Flood Defence Grant in Aid: £3.955million / Calder Valley Booster
funding, 2016 allocation: £13.026million / Calder Valley Booster
funding, 2019 allocation: £5.327million / Local Levy: £835,000
ESIF (unsecured): £2.240million

Total other private
sector investment (£):

N/A

Is this a standalone
project?

No

Is this a programme?

No

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes- Flood Alleviation for Growth Programme

87

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
Hebden Bridge in Calderdale is a picturesque market town in an area of natural beauty, coupled
with an industrial legacy of water powered weaving mills, which now have a negative impact
on the local economy due to high flood risk.
The town is located at the confluence of two rivers in the Calder Valley: The River Calder and
Hebden Water. It is a key economic area for the borough, with numerous boutiques, drinking
establishments and eateries drawing many tourists to the town. In recent years, businesses
and the local community have suffered multiple devastating flood incidents which have severely
affected the local economy, most recently on Boxing Day 2015 where river levels on the Calder
and Hebden Water reached their highest ever recorded levels and flooding was widespread
throughout the whole of the Calder Valley.
This project will reduce the flood risk to 231 commercial properties, move a further 180
commercial properties to a lower flood risk band, and directly safeguard approximately 700
jobs. In addition, the scheme will better protect 183 homes, move a further 130 to a lower flood
risk band and improve the resilience of the A646 road towards Mytholmroyd and the M62.
Hebden Bridge currently has a 20% risk of flooding (1 in 5) in any given year. The proposed
scheme will reduce the flood risk in the town centre to a 2% risk of flooding in any given year
(1 in 50) by installing new flood walls and increasing current wall heights through the town
centre. The scheme is being designed to address all sources of flooding including fluvial,
surface water and canal. The works are an integral part of the wider Hebden Bridge Flood
Alleviation Scheme (FAS).
Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

Hebden Bridge has a long history of regular flooding with records dating
back to 1837. More recently, flooding has occurred in 2000, 2006, three
times in 2012, 2013 and three times during the winter of 2015-16. The
flooding on Boxing Day 2015 flooded 551 residential and non-residential
properties. Flooding affected all major transport routes, some electricity
supply, sewers and communications through Calderdale.
In response to the 2012/13 floods the Calderdale Flood Partnership
(CFP), a multi-agency project led by the Environment Agency, was
established. Its members comprised the Environment Agency, Calderdale
Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC), Yorkshire Water, the Canal &
River Trust (CRT) and Network Rail. Work by the partnership delivered a
feasibility study and outline design of a comprehensive flood alleviation
scheme.
In 2017, the CFP launched the Calderdale Flood Action Plan, which
includes an action to develop and deliver a flood alleviation scheme for
Hebden Bridge by the end of 2021. Reducing flood risk is essential to

88

secure the future of Hebden Bridge as a place to live and work.
The Flood Risk Management (FRM) investment in Hebden Bridge
strongly aligns with local business strategies for the area, including the
Calder Catchment Flood Management Plan and Calder Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment and obligations under the Water Framework Directive
(WFD), as well as a number of local action plans developed by
community groups in the areas.
The project is a good strategic fit with the Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic Plan, the UK Industrial Strategy, the 25-year Environment Plan
and local development needs.
Commercial
Case

This scheme will significantly reduce the flood risk and improve business
confidence.
The appraisal was competitively tendered under WEM (Water &
Environment Management Framework) Lot 3. Mott MacDonald were
secured as the supplier in 2014.
The PSC Option C contract for the detailed design was awarded to BMM
under the WEM framework in July 2019.
The construction contract will be let using an NEC4 ECC Option C form of
contract with a target cost agreed between the EA and BAM.
In addition to the contracts set out above there is a requirement for a
number of supporting services, including a Cost Manager to support the
Employer’s Agent and Project Manager. The Project Manager will be
appointed from the Client Support Framework and will undertake an
independent check of the documents and provide expert advice to the
project team. A Supervisor and Environmental Clerk of Works will also be
appointed from the CSF.

Economic Case

The economic appraisal has been carried out in accordance with the
Green Book and Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management- Appraisal
Guidance (FCERM-AG), using methods and data from the Multi-Coloured
Manual and Handbook. Climate change allowances were based on
Adapting to Climate Change: Advice for Flood and Coastal Risk
Management Authorities.
Present value whole-life benefits and costs were estimated for a 100-year
appraisal period. Climate change impacts were modelled using the
central estimate for 2080s.
Capital cost estimates have been provided through the Early Supplier
Engagement contractor and Environment Agency Project Costing Tool,
the post-construction costs have been calculated through the
Environment Agency’s long-term costing tool.
The BCR has been calculated as 2.1 whiuh shows good value for money.
A short list of four options has been appraised, options 3 and 4 were
both considered to be viable, however the increased benefits offered by
option 4 (high containment through raising barriers alongside Hebden
Water and structural modifications to existing third party owned buildings)
mean that it was preferred.
A GVA assessment will be developed as part of the full business case.

89

Financial Case

The total cost of the scheme is £27.283 million. The Environment Agency
has secured £25.383 million (Flood Defence Grant in Aid and Booster
Funding). The Combined Authority will provide development matched
funding of £1.9 million from the £20 million Local Growth Fund allocation
for the Flood Alleviation programme.

Management
Case

The project will be managed by the Environment Agency’s Programme
and Contract Management team (PCM) in accordance with PRINCE2
methodology. The EA PM will have overall management of the project
under the guidance of the Project Executive and Project Board. The EA
PM will work with EA internal teams, including the National Environmental
Assessment Service (NEAS), Partnerships and Strategic Overview
(PSO), Assessment Performance (AP), Legal, Estates and Commercial
alongside the contracted suppliers. The project team will also work at
office level directly with Calderdale Council and other members of the
Calderdale Flood Partnership (CFP), a multi-agency project led by the
Environment Agency.
The CFP Programme Board is responsible for overseeing the distribution
of the Calder Valley Booster Funding. The Board comprises senior
officers from CMBC, including the Director for Economy and Environment
and the EA is represented on the board by the Project Sponsor. The
Hebden Bridge FAS Project Executive reports quarterly to the CFP
Programme Board, Project Sponsor and PCM Catchment Lead to ensure
all parties have clear visibility of spend, programme, funding and project
risks.

90

91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 5

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

LPTIP: Corn Exchange Gateway

PMO scheme code:

DFT-LPTIP-004d

Lead organisation:

Leeds City Council

Senior responsible
officer:

Gary Bartlett

Lead promoter contact:

Gwyn Owen

Case officer:

Asif Abed

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Grant:
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme
West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority area 4 Infrastructure for Growth

Approvals to date:

Decision Point 2: June 2017 LPTIP Programme Approval

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

March 2020

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

October 2021

Total scheme cost (£):

£25.6 million
£24.7 million of which:

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£18.6 million LPTIP
£6.1 million West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£0

Total other private
sector investment (£):

£0.9 million S106

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

93

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes - Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (inclusion
of Meadow Lane works from the Leeds City Centre Package
Programme)

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The Corn Exchange Gateway is formed of Vicar Lane, New Market Street, Kirkgate, New York
Street, Harper Street, Kirkgate York Street, Cross York Street, Duncan Street, Call Lane, Boar
Lane, Lower Briggate, Bridge End and Meadow Lane - just under 2.2km of public highway. The
Gateway is formed of single carriageway streets, except for Meadow Lane and Duncan Street
which are dual carriageways.
The Corn Exchange Gateway encompasses a high proportion of key city centre bus, cycle and
pedestrian movements. Bus services from all parts of Leeds as well as from Wakefield,
Dewsbury and Huddersfield use this Gateway, creating opportunities for transfer between bus
services. The Gateway is home to a range of important commercial and cultural buildings, as
well as some of the city’s largest retail and leisure destinations. The Gateway has a range of
loading needs and it is a key generator of taxi and private hire trips. The intense demands
placed on the Gateway render it prone to congestion and delay.
The scheme will deliver a series of improvements to bus infrastructure, public realm, pedestrian
infrastructure and cycling infrastructure.
The scheme will transform the area into a world-class Gateway to Leeds city centre for bus
users, pedestrians and cycle users. This will enable bus services to operate with fewer delays
and will provide high standard waiting facilities for bus users. Connectivity for pedestrians and
cycle users will be enhanced, making the area safer and more inclusive. It will feature highquality public realm, which improves the townscape and enhances the setting of heritage
assets, which will make the centre more welcoming and attractive for visitors, residents and
employees.

94

Lower Briggate:

Meadow Lane:

95

Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

The Leeds City Region is the largest UK economy outside of London and
is critical to the North’s and the UK’s success. With an economy worth
over £62 billion, Leeds City Region accounts for 5% of the UK’s economic
output and a fifth of the output of the Northern Powerhouse.
The West Yorkshire Transport Strategy estimates the population of the
Leeds City Region will increase from 3 to 3.4 million between 2015 and
2035. The city’s transport infrastructure has enabled much of its growth to
date, but weaknesses in the transport system increasingly threaten the
economic vitality of the city and its prospects for future growth - namely
giving rise to congestion levels with the car still the modal choice.
Delivery of the scheme objectives will make a key contribution to the
following critical success factors for the scheme, also set out in the LPTIP
package objectives:





Commercial
Case

Increase overall bus patronage
Improve bus journey times and reliability
Improve air quality and health outcomes
Increase accessibility to jobs, training and services

There has been a significant increase in housing numbers and
employment and retail floor space since the 1990s. In order to continue
this trend, there needs to be a step change across Leeds city centre and
the wider region by increasing bus and cycle use and enhancing
pedestrian space. In addition to this, a number of new opportunities are
now emerging which, taken together, provide a compelling justification for
significant investment in the city centre.
Demand for sustainable travel is also likely to rise following the
declaration of a Climate Emergency.
Sisk+ Capita were appointed as delivery partners through an OJEU-led
procurement exercise, off the YorCivil2 framework, and have been
involved in early stages of business case development.
No planning permission is required given the works are to be delivered
within the existing highways boundary.
New and amended Traffic Regulation Orders will be sought for bus
priority and taxi measures.
The scheme is free of state aid.

Economic Case

The preferred option is an integrated multimodal city centre transport
investment proposal, designed to support a variety of network users
within the gateway, enhancing bus, walking and cycling, and urban realm
improvements, in line with the LPTIP funding programme objectives.
While the Present Value Benefits (PVB) for the preferred option is
negative, leading to a core Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of -0.35:1 (very poor
VfM). This is due to significant highway disbenefits resulting from peak
period and inter-peak period general traffic restrictions, namely those on
Leeds Bridge.
When highway benefits are discounted from the scheme appraisal, the

96

BCR improves to 0:65:1 (poor VfM).
Financial Case

The total scheme cost estimate at outline business case is £25.6 million,
of which £18.6 million is to be funded through the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme, and £6.1 million from the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund. A £0.9 million S10 developer contribution is pending
approval.

Management
Case

The project will be managed as part of an overarching programme of
work known as the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme
(LPTIP).
There is an established programme management board chaired by the
Senior Responsible Owner (SRO) and supported by a Programme
Manager, both these roles along with programme support are jointly
fulfilled by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Leeds CC.
Works are anticipated to commence in February 2020 (at Meadow Lane),
with practical completion forecast for October 2021.

97

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 6

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

Enterprise Zone: Parry Lane

PMO scheme code:

GD-PA4-021f

Lead organisation:

Bradford Council

Senior responsible
officer:

Kate Thompson, West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Lead promoter contact:

Dave Partridge, Bradford Council
Jessica McNeill, West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Case officer:

Asif Abed, West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Grant – Local Growth Deal 3 LCR Enterprise Zone Programme

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority Area 4 – Infrastructure for Growth
Decision Point 2 Case Paper: Combined Authority Board 14
December 2017 - Indicative EZ Programme approval of £20
million from the Local Growth Fund, with approval of £302,000 of
development costs.

Approvals to date:

Call for Projects Case Paper: Combined Authority Board 28
June 2018 - Indicative approval of a further £24.939 million
through over programming against the Local Growth Fund, with
approval of a further £1.541 million of development costs.
The EZ Programme to date has secured indicative approval of
£44.939 million from the Local Growth Fund, with approval of
£1.923 million development costs.

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

July 2020

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

March 2025

Total scheme cost (£):

£18.885 million

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£7.480 million

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£0

99

Total other private
sector investment (£):

£11.405 million

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes – Enterprise Zones

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The Parry Lane Enterprise Zone site is located off the outer ring road (A6177) in the Bowling
Back Lane area of Bradford. The ring road provides direct access to the M606 and the wider
motorway network. The Bowling Back Lane area is designated as a Business Development
Zone by the Council and is an established employment area. The scheme seeks to deliver site
enabling and de-risking works to make the development a more viable proposition for the private
sector. Working with the private sector, it is anticipated that full site development could be realised by
March 2025, with delivery of up to 16,900 sqm of commercial floor space capable of accommodating
489 jobs, generating up to £166 million GVA, and potential business rates income of approximately
£5.3 million over the period to 2042.

100

Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

The Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone Programme supports the Leeds
City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) vision and the principle of
‘good growth’ by supporting delivery of high-quality employment space in
advanced and innovative manufacturing and complementary sectors.
The site has the potential to accommodate up to 16,900 sqm of
commercial floorspace depending upon the scheme layout and
development option taken forward. Subsequently, the site could support
up to 489 new jobs.
The scheme will provide opportunity to deliver a new junction at Sticker
Lane and highway which will improve the marketability of the site,
currently unsuitable for heavy vehicles, restricting the potential of Bowling
Back Lane as a major route in and out of Bradford city centre.

Commercial
Case

Parry Lane was identified as a Phase 2 Enterprise Zone site by West
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and its partner Bradford Council.
Since being included in the programme, the site has also been identified
as a development priority through Bradford Council’s Business
Development Zones (BDZ) programme. As part of this work, site visits
were carried out to identify development opportunities and property
market research was undertaken to inform masterplan proposals.

101

The market demand assessment demonstrates that there is a lack of
good quality supply of modern industrial accommodation in Bradford
Parry lane.
The Local Growth Deal funding will be utilised towards procurement and
delivery of an initial site enabling works contractor (site clearance, site
access) and to secure outline planning consent as part of site de-risking.
Options on the preferred route for development are being considered,
either via a private sector developer or through direct delivery by the
public sector.
Economic Case

Options reflected what could be done in the timeframe and therefore
focuses on land assembly, remediation and infrastructure rather than
above ground development, with each option scored against defined
Critical Success Factors (CSF’s).
Council site remediation and access - was chosen as the preferred way
forward. This option involves securing funding to obtain outline planning
permission, remediate the site and the acquisition of one area of land at
Sticker Lane to provide a new access road to and through the site to
Parry Lane. This option with the new access improves the marketability of
the site and would have a catalytic impact on the wider area and delivers
against all of the CSFs, summarised as:





Financial Case

Contributes to the wider economic objectives and strategies
Provides the best Value for Money
Is considered more deliverable in the timescales due to only one
land interest required
Is the most financially viable scheme

The total costs to achieve full site development have been estimated at
£18.885 million.
The net development value has been estimated at £11.04 million.
Given the above, this business case is to consider the Combined
Authority contribution of £7.48 million through the Local Growth Deal
(LGF) to fund the viability gap. The LGF funding is to cover site enabling
work costs comprising of site remediation and site access works.
A costed risk register has been provided with risk costs totalling £1.649
million profiled into the estimates.

Management
Case

The scheme will be developed and delivered through the existing
Enterprise Zone project delivery team and governance arrangements at
the Combined Authority, in partnership with Bradford Council.
The delivery programme anticipates completion to site enabling works
including the access road by March 2022, with delivery of the full site
development by March 2025.
The monitoring and evaluation of scheme benefits, outputs, and
outcomes will be undertaken as part of the Enterprise Zone programme
plan currently in development.

102

103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 7
Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

Leeds Inland Port

PMO scheme code:

CFP-006

Lead organisation:

Canal & River Trust

Senior responsible
officer:
Lead promoter contact:

Stephen Higham, EU Funding Manager, Canal & River Trust

CA Project Manager:

Chris Moses

CA Case officer:

Daisy Johnson

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Leeds City Region Growth Deal

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

SEP Priorities 1, 2, 3 and 4

Approvals to date:

Expression of Interest (EOI) recommended for approval at Activity
1 by Investment Committee (03/01/18) and approved at
Combined Authority (01/02/18). Case Paper approved at Activity
2 by Combined Authority on 28th June 2018. OBC approved by
PAT on 24.01.19 subject to further detail being supplied.

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

June 2020

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

March 2021

Total scheme cost (£):

£3.370 million

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£3.170 million Local Growth Deal

Total other public sector
investment (£):

N/A

Total other private
sector investment (£):

Canal & River Trust (registered charity): £0.200 million

105

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

No

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The scheme enables the potential of the 100 km waterway between Hull and Immingham and
Leeds to be unlocked through the delivery of a new wharf facility at Stourton to enable the
transportation of non-perishable freight such as aggregates, timber, oil and steel from the
Humber estuary into Leeds.
The wharf, which will be located on land off Haigh Park Road, Stourton, LS10 (easting
433225 and northing 430920), an already well-established distribution site that is well
connected by motorway and also hosts the largest inland rail terminal east of the Pennines.
However, no freight currently uses rail from the Humber ports to Stourton.
The scheme will comprise:


The construction of a 11,875sqm concrete apron on a three acre brownfield site in the
Trust’s ownership to enable aggregate storage, screening and distribution;



The installation of a basic mobile crane;



The installation of 80m of sheet piling to establish an apron for boats to moor against;



The dredging of the waterway to improve the navigability of the waterway at this point.

It is anticipated that the project will support the development of flagship projects such as Leeds
Southbank and High Speed 2 by enabling construction materials to be transported on water,
thereby reducing congestion on the roads and generating carbon savings.
The stated objectives are to:
1. Complete construction of a new 80m wharf facility within 18 months of the funding
being awarded;
2. Move 200,000 tonnes of freight from road to water after year one, resulting in reduced
road congestion;
3. Reduce carbon emissions from road vehicles by 894 tonnes by the end of year three
resulting in improved air quality for the Leeds City Region;
4. Create up to 16 new jobs, safeguard three jobs, and assist 25 businesses, thereby
supporting economic growth in the region.

106

The proposed outputs are:


one new freight facility for the city of Leeds;



Up to 16 new jobs;



200,000 tonnes of freight moved to water per annum.

The proposed outcomes are:


An improvement in air quality as reliance on road freight transport is diminished;



Increased connectivity between the Humber ports and northern Europe.

Planning consent was granted in September 2019 subject to conditions, six months later than
expected.
The project supports Strategic Economic Plan Priorities 1, 2, 3, and 4.
Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

There are several key strategic drivers for Leeds Inland Port.
1. Key freight infrastructure in the Leeds City Region is at capacity.
2. Air quality in Leeds is among the poorest in Europe.
3. Market failure resulting from the decades-long policy of shifting freight
from water to road.
4. A number of high profile regeneration and transport schemes that Leeds
Inland Port scheme could support, including High Speed 2, Leeds South
Bank, and Hunslet Riverside Regeneration.
Connecting with the new Goole Intermodal Terminal, recently funded by
the Humber Local Enterprise Partnership, will shorten timescales and
reduce the costs of moving goods in the region.
Leeds Inland Port therefore provides a very attractive opportunity. By
transporting goods by water, it will be possible to:


Support future developments in the Leeds City Region, including a
number of flagship infrastructure and regeneration projects.



Reduce the demands of road and rail transport.



Have a positive effect on air quality in the region.

The scheme aligns with the following Leeds City Region Strategic
Economic Plan (SEP) priorities:
1. Growing Business: Providing a viable alternative to road freight
transport resulting in growth and efficiency.
2. Skilled People, Better Jobs: The creation of up to 16 new jobs
and skills development.
3. Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience: 894 tonnes of
carbon savings by the end of year 3 and a reduction in road freight
by 200,000 tonnes after year one.
4. Infrastructure for Growth: Support regeneration and growth on
flagship developments in the region.

107

Commercial
Case

The case for Leeds Inland Port is based upon reducing the user cost of
moving freight between the Humber ports and West Yorkshire or ports to
the West of West Yorkshire, and the associated net reduction in non-user
costs of removing HGVs from the road network.
Per tonne kilometre, the cost of movement of goods by large barge
(approximately 500 tonnes cargo capacity at present in this case) is less
than by road or rail, but account has to be taken of the cost of onward
distribution where origins and destinations are not waterside.
The development of Leeds Inland Port exploits the fact that a large
waterway is already available; it simply lacks a suitable berth in Leeds to
handle the type of cargo that is available.
Further upgrade of the waterway to class II will allow larger barges of
around 650 tonnes capacity to operate.
The Humber Ports represent the largest concentration of port traffic in
Britain; some 77m tonnes in 2017 or 17% of the total for Great Britain. In
total the GB Freight Model indicates that over 7m tonnes of dry cargo per
annum passes from the Humber to West Yorkshire and the North West of
England; almost all passing along the M62.
Given these volumes, the promoter has noted the importance of entering
into an agreement with a company that is active in the freight sector who
will both market and (directly or indirectly) stevedore / maintain Leeds
Inland Port. This company will reduce the cost for shippers of trading
through the Humber to West Yorkshire and the North West, rendering the
Humber a more competitive route than other ports such as the Tees or
the Mersey; increase the capacity of the area available to hold goods;
bring expertise in marketing, stevedoring and maintaining port
infrastructure; and act as a tenant at the Port, which will guarantee a flow
of revenue to maintain the infrastructure.
At present the only berth commercially available on the Aire & Calder
Navigation in West Yorkshire to handle dry cargo from barges is in
Wakefield, and this can only handle aggregates and has no space available
to add value on site (e.g. through concrete batching) or to store cargo, so
the synergies with such activities cannot be exploited. There is no
opportunity to handle steel, forest products or containerised traffic.
Work completed to date by the Canal & River Trust and Transport for the
North has revealed that there is a demand to move cargoes such as
aggregates, timber, oil, and steel by water in the Leeds City Region. More
specifically, there appears to be some 3.0m tonnes of dry cargo moving to
West Yorkshire that would be available for the waterway service to
compete for, plus 4.1 million tonnes that passes to the North West.
There is also an emerging in-bound trade in sea-dredged aggregates. This
is expected to grow rapidly and is expected to form the initial trade to Leeds
Inland Port. In a report by URS for Leeds City Council in 2014 on marine
aggregates it was forecast that the volume of marine dredged aggregates
to the Humber (then 192,000 tonnes p.a.) would grow to 2 million tonnes,
which would then represent around two thirds of all sand and gravel
consumed in the Yorkshire and the Humber region. This is in addition to
current traffic levels from the ports and will substitute for land-won material
(mainly from north Yorkshire). A substantial proportion of this traffic is likely

108

to be destined for West Yorkshire given that it constitutes 41% of the
region’s population.
There are already wharf facilities on the Aire & Calder Navigation that are
already in use, but the Trust’s ambition is to bring freight back into Leeds
City Centre.
Given the pressures that Leeds City Region is currently facing around
traffic congestion and air quality, the use of waterborne freight could bring
both commercial, environmental and health benefits.
Procurement will be carried out using an existing procurement framework,
of which details have been supplied.
The site has been in the ownership of the promoter since 2002.
Economic Case

Three main options have been considered: do nothing; construct one
wharf for Leeds Inland Port; construct two wharves for Leeds Inland Port.
Shortlisting confirmed that the option to construct one wharf would be
most viable. A second wharf is not expected to be needed until the facility
is handling over one million tonnes of freight per annum.
The critical success factors of usability, affordability, market take-up,
environmental design and low maintenance design were applied in the
design process.
The 80m wharf proposed will be sufficient size to accommodate vessels
between 60-65m in length.
The objectives set out in the OBC state that the project will create up to
16 new jobs, assist 30 businesses, and result in 894 tonnes of carbon
savings.
Transport Economists MDS Transmodal have assisted with the economic
case in their document “A Case for Port Leeds”. This document indicates
that the wharf only needs to transfer 38,000t of aggregates for it to be
deemed viable against Green Book principles.
The adjusted benefit cost ratio of 4.896:1.

Financial Case

The total project delivery costs are currently estimated at £3.37 million, of
which the West Yorkshire Combined Authority is invited to contribute £3.17
million (94% of total project costs).
Match funding to a value of £0.2 million is proposed by the Canal & Rivers
trust, along with land to a value of £1.100 million, giving a total contribution
of £1.300 million in 2019 values and prices.
Project budgets include a contingency and risk allocation. It is anticipated
that any cost overruns will be handled on a pain-share basis with appointed
contractors.
Any financial return when the wharf is in operation will be ring-fenced and
allocated for further improvements to the navigation with a view to
expanding use of the facility.
The promoter is in advanced discussions with a private provider about
taking on the long term management of the facility.
Regarding revenue costs, given that the promoter is in close dialogue with
a private provider about them being the port operator upon completion, it
is likely that they will take on maintenance costs of the site as part of the

109

lease. This will be negotiated as part of the future commercial agreement.
In the interim, or in the event that the private deal does not come to fruition,
revenue costs will be met by the promoter through the generation of tolls
which are proposed at £2 per tonne for the use of the waterway
infrastructure, the use of the berth (cargo dues) and the storage area on
the quay. The facility will be staffed by Canal & River Trust operational staff
in the first instance, with responsibility transferring to the private provider
in the longer term if this deal is agreed.
The main financial risks are construction inflation and cost overruns. A
Quantified risk assessment will be provided at the next stage.
Management
Case

The Canal & River Trust is the promoter and will lead on the overall
development and delivery of the scheme.
A principal project manager has been appointed to deliver the project and
further supervision will be provided through both internal engineering and
dredging expertise as well as external contract managers.
Technical drawings and studies have been prepared to enable submission
of a full planning application (reference: 18/07051/FU), which was granted
in September 2019, subject to conditions, six months later than planned.
The main risks identified by the promoter, and which can be mitigated as
the project develops, include cost overruns, and lack of market take-up.
These will be captured in a quantified risk assessment at the next stage.
The project management structure including project board will be
addressed at the next stage of project development.

110

111

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 8

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway Station

PMO scheme code:

DFT-LPTIP-005a

Lead organisation:

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Senior responsible
officer:

Liz Hunter

Lead promoter contact:

Tom Murphy

Case officer:

Asif Abed

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

LPTIP

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority Area 4 – Infrastructure for Growth
Decision Point 2

Approvals to date:

Expression of Interest (June 2017) - Indicative approval of £25m
scheme cost, with approval of £0.5m development funding
through LPTIP to progress the scheme to OBC.

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

May 2022

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

April 2024

Total scheme cost (£):

£41.98m

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£5m initially. Funding strategy to be determined

Total other public sector
investment (£):

Funding strategy to be determined

Total other private
sector investment (£):

Funding package to be determined

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

113

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The scheme will see delivery of a new rail station on the Harrogate railway line, between
Horsforth station and the southern portal of the Bramhope Tunnel.
The new station would provide a rail interchange to serve Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA) and a
parkway function. It is proposed that the airport connection will be provided by a regular shuttle
bus service between the station and the airport. Figure 1-1 shows the general location:
The scheme includes construction of two platforms with associated station facilities such as
waiting rooms, passenger information screens, lighting, and ticket vending machines. It will also
include the provision of a 350-space car park and construction of a spur road to the airport to
all users.

Figure 1-1: LBA Parkway Station Location

114

Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

Investment in public transport is essential to ensure that growth in north
east Leeds can continue and not simply be highway dependent. In addition,
it is of paramount importance that Leeds City centre is also able to grow
and there is enough access to the rail network to ensure that ever greater
volumes of people can get into the city centre.
The new rail station will offer access to an alternative, more sustainable
mode of transport for people travelling to the airport from Leeds or
Harrogate. Additionally, a new station is important to the airport itself, the
neighbouring employment hub, and the local area, widening the
employment and customer area for the airport and hub, as well as bring in
new investment.

115

The park and ride spaces will also capture trips heading for the city centre,
encouraging part of the journey to be made by public transport
A key theme from the Initial Public Consultation for the Leeds Bradford
Airport Link Route was the desire for a rail link to support the airport.
Commercial
Case

Demand forecasts at this stage predict that there would initially be 470,000
trips made through the new station per year. Of this, 245,000 (52%) are
users that are new to rail, the remainder (224,000 representing 48%) being
abstracted from existing stations.
Furthermore, growth forecasts predict increases in passenger demand of
67% in the rail market (based on the Combined Authority’s and Network
Rail’s analysis for the Leeds station MSCP) and of over 100% in the
aviation market by 2043, indicating this strong base demand can be
expected to grow significantly over time.
Various procurement options are being considered and to be developed as
part of full business case stage.

Economic Case

The economic appraisal has been conducted in line with the principles and
guidance of the Department for Transport’s (DfT) WebTAG, as required by
the Leeds City Region Assurance Framework for transport projects.
Aviation-derived rail demand has been modelled separately from the rail
market demand that derives from usual patterns of business, leisure and
commuting patterns. In both cases, the approaches are consistent with
WebTAG.
The value for money assessment at outline business case (OBC) reflects
an initial benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 4.28:1, judging the scheme as very high
value for money when assessed against the DfT’s value for money criteria.

Financial Case

The total project capital cost is estimated to be £41.981m.
The Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) has allocated
£5m of development funding to the project.
The OBC sets out the headline risks, most of which relate to construction
phase risks that would affect delivery programme and construction cost.
These risks have been itemised and quantified through a quantified risk
assessment (QRA), with an appropriate risk allowance profiled in to the
scheme cost estimate. The risks will be individually managed on an
ongoing basis through the Combined Authority’s risk management
process. In most cases, further survey work and detailed design will
mitigate much of these risks.
A funding strategy will be developed as part of the final business case.

Management
Case

Executive responsibility for the development of LBA Parkway station falls
under the Rail Package of the LPTIP.
The Combined Authority has appointed Atkins as Development Partner for
the development of the station through to OBC and GRIP 3 ‘Approval in
Principle’ stage. The Combined Authority and Atkins’ joint development
team are collaborating extensively with Leeds City Council, Transport for
the North, DfT, Network Rail, Arriva Rail North, and LBA to ensure the

116

scheme satisfies key stakeholder requirements.
Scheme opening is forecast for April 2024, although the delivery
programme is to be worked up and refined as part of full business case.

117

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 9

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:

Network Navigation, Leeds

PMO scheme code:

DFT-LPTIP-006g

Lead organisation:

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Senior responsible
officer:

Dave Pearson

Lead promoter contact:

Helen Ellerton/Lily Feasby

Case officer:

Ian McNichol

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme- 100%

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority 4 (Infrastructure for Growth)

Approvals to date:

LPTIP programme dp2 CA 26 June 2018

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

August 2020

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

March 2021

Total scheme cost (£):

£1.799million

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£1.799 million

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£0

Total other private
sector investment (£):

£0

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes – Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme

119

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The project aims to develop a simple, accessible and highly recognisable network map and
associated corridor maps which relate to the high frequency and strategic bus network in
Leeds. Alongside the map (example of a draft can be seen below), visual solutions for will be
produced for bus shelters, bus stop flags, roadside displays and timetables to align the map
with on-street infrastructure, buses and interchanges.

The objectives of the Network Navigation (Leeds) scheme include:
1. To present existing and potential bus users with a unified, accessible and easy to
navigate network of the core bus services
2. To promote usage of this bus network and contribute to an overall target of doubling
patronage in Leeds over the next ten years
3. Ensure high frequency bus services are easily recognisable to existing and potential
bus users
Network Navigation (Leeds) as part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme, will
contribute towards achieving these objectives by making it easier to catch the bus, therefore
encouraging non-bus users to switch to a more sustainable mode of travel and providing wider
access to employment and training opportunities, particularly where there is low car ownership.

120

Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

The Network Navigation (Leeds) project is a work stream within the wider
Connecting Leeds programme. The development of the project will focus
on the aims and objectives of the Leeds City Region (LCR) Strategic
Economic Plan (SEP) and Transport Strategy 2040.
The overarching theme is the need for the LCR to attract more inward
investment and take advantage of the opportunities for economic growth,
reversing the tide of industrial decline. Traffic congestion and the
inadequacies of the district’s road network are perceived as the main
obstacles to growth. The Network Navigation (Leeds) project, as part of the
wider Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme, will help facilitate
these initiatives by ensuring high frequency and strategic bus services are
easily recognisable and the network is presented as unified, accessible
and easy to navigate. This will improve existing and potential bus user’s
ability to use the network and therefore access to jobs and opportunities,
bringing a major economic boost to the City and driving economic growth
and value for the City Region.
Investment is needed to enhance the quality of the travel offer and present
a unified and easy to navigate bus network. The Network Navigation
(Leeds) project offers a solution in which public transport is improved and
expands its reach to accommodate a growing demand and ensure an
equitable system. To increase patronage and provide an enhanced service
to existing users, the bus network needs to be an accessible, attractive and
viable alternative to using the car for appropriate journeys. Maximising the
use of these public transport networks will ease the pressure on the
highway network and deliver a whole transport network which meets the
economic growth aspirations of the city.

Commercial
Case

There is a critical reason for investment and sufficient evidence to support
the market demand for this project, as highlighted in the Strategic Case.
This project will seek to address concerns raised in the Bus Strategy
Consultation (2016) and the Leeds Transport Conversation (2016) by
providing a step change in the presentation of the core and strategic bus
network across Leeds, improving the travel experience for existing users
and encouraging non-users to switch to a more sustainable mode of
transport.
A robust Procurement Strategy will be developed in line with relevant
legislation and policy directives. Project risk will be managed as an ongoing process as part of the scheme governance structure.

Economic Case

After robust testing and appraisal of Long List of Options, a Short List of
Options was created. Appraisal of the Short List of Options was reviewed
against their ability to achieve the critical success factors and the likely
impact on patronage, scheme costs, and potential value for money.
The preferred option is Option 1 (Do Something) - this option provides a
highly recognisable series of maps that are targeted at high frequency
routes and services. It aligns the maps with on-street infrastructure,
buses and interchanges which maximises the usability and attractiveness
of the maps. It is considered that this option offers the most cost effective
means of attracting large numbers of new passengers and of enhancing

121

the experience of existing passengers thereby making it more likely that
they will maintain/increase current bus usage.
The preferred option has been appraised in accordance with current
WebTAG guidance, including an economic appraisal that assessed the
benefits to health due to the increased patronage (the walk element of the
new trip between home the bus stop and the destination), and the
benefits of reduced congestion as a result of car drivers switching to bus.
The BCR of preferred option is 3.76 which indicates that the scheme
offers high Value for Money. The preferred option has been selected for
the following reasons:
• It will provide greater increased patronage than the less ambitious
option and will be more successful in terms of meeting the critical
success factors.
• Although the more ambitious option is likely to achieve greater
patronage, it is considered that the difference will be relatively minor.
• The preferred scheme is likely to provide greater value for money.
• The preferred scheme is within the agreed budget, whereas the more
ambitious scheme will be significantly more expensive.
The scheme will result in an increase in bus patronage and it is
anticipated that approximately 30% of these trips will have transferred
from using the car. There will therefore be relatively minor reductions in
car traffic, and congestion.
Financial Case

The scheme will be funded through the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme. The project will be match funded by the bus
operators, as they will be required to fund replacement vinyls on flags as
they make service changes and convey the navigation themes on their
buses through their destination blinds. These costs will be identified
further at FBC+.
Programme delivery, costs and risks will be monitored and reviewed on a
regular basis with any early warnings of potential cost overruns flagged to
the project board and programme. Any potential mitigating actions will be
identified and a request of change submitted if necessary.

Management
Case

The project will be managed as part of the Connecting Leeds programme.
The Combined Authority uses PRINCE2 to deliver their projects and this
methodology will also be used for developing and delivering this project.
Following the ‘Decision to Proceed’ from the Department for Transport
(DfT), a dedicated programme team was assembled for Connecting
Leeds, with a clear and accountable Senior Responsible Officer (SRO),
Programme Board, Project Manager(s) and work stream leads.
Resources have been brought together from across the Combined
Authority and LCC, also bringing additional technical specialists as
required.
Project risk will be managed as an on-going process as part of the
scheme governance structure. Engagement and consultation on Network
Navigation (Leeds) is currently on-going. A number of discussions with
some key stakeholders have already taken place however and informed
the development of this project so far. A Benefits Realisation Plan has
been developed and the plan reflects a number of the key outcomes and

122

outputs being delivered at the Connecting Leeds programme level. It has
been agreed that these programme benefits could also be attributed to
this scheme specifically at a package level.

123

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 10

Section A: Scheme Summary
Name of scheme:
PMO scheme code:

Moorthorpe Rail Car Park
WYTF-PA4-040c

Lead organisation:

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Senior responsible
officer:

Melanie Corcoran

Lead promoter contact:

John Huxall

Case officer:

Asif Abed

Applicable funding
stream(s) – Grant or
Loan:

Grant - West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund

Growth Fund Priority
Area (if applicable):

Priority Area 4 Infrastructure for Growth

Approvals to date:

Decision Point 2

Forecasted full approval
date (decision point 5):

February 2020

Forecasted completion
date (decision point 6):

December 2020

Total scheme cost (£):

£778,551

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£778,551

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£0

Total other private
sector investment (£):

£0

Is this a standalone
project?

Yes

Is this a programme?

No

Is this project part of an
agreed programme?

Yes - West Yorkshire Combined Authority Rail Car Park
Programme

125

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Scheme Description:
The current car park at Moorthorpe has 45 spaces (18 lined and a section of gravel in which
circa 30 cars currently park) and is surface level.
The reconfigured design will be built on land owned by Network Rail and produce the
following outputs:
 A modern, reconfigured, no-charging, car park for rail users
 Total of 102 car parking spaces, including 6 Blue Badge bays.
 CCTV and low energy LED lighting.
 Enhanced drainage infrastructure, with fuel and oil interceptors.
 Provision of electrical ducting for future EV charging bays (2).

Business Case Summary:
Strategic Case

Demand for rail travel has grown significantly in West Yorkshire; between
2005/6 and 2014/15 rail trips increased from 17.8m to 34.85m, an increase
of 96% (Source: West Yorkshire Combined Authority Transport Strategy
2040). This demand is expected to continue as the Leeds City Region
Transport Plan 2040 sets out a more ambitious growth of +75% more rail
trips by 2027.
In order to meet this growing demand, enhanced rail capacity is anticipated
in 2019/20 as a result of the new rail franchise agreements; a £1.2 billion
investment in rail services across the North.
Capacity audits on car parks within the programme have been recorded
since 2013. These audits have demonstrated that the car parks reach
100% capacity by 9am on most term-time weekdays.

126

As part of the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund, a programme of car
park extensions at rail stations has been identified to enhance
connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire. The Phase 1
programme has been identified as an early win for the Transport Fund
and the programme now consists of 14 sites that will extend car parks on
land owned by Network Rail or Partner Councils. A Phase 2 programme
has also been launched to focus on sites where 3rd party land acquisition
is required.
The Moorthorpe scheme will see the delivery of a new, fit for purpose, car
park extension, increasing capacity to 102 parking spaces (including blue
badge bays), encouraging a sustainable mode of travel to users who
otherwise drive directly from Moorthorpe into Leeds or Wakefield.
Commercial
Case

A demand forecasting assessment was undertaken to inform the scheme
design / preferred option.
Procurement of the contractor has been undertaken by Arriva Rail North
(ARN), with Eric Wright selected as the preferred contractor.
The Combined Authority to enter in to a section 56 funding agreement
with ARN, who will enter in to contract with Eric Wright. Risk allocation
and transfer will be managed through the contractual arrangements.
The car park is to be constructed entirely within the boundary of Networks
Rail’s land and is allowable under “permitted development” rights.

Economic Case

The Programme Board were presented with 4 options as a result of
feasibility design works, and appraised the number of spaces against the
cost to deliver. This included reviewing the number of additional spaces
gained from each design. Each option included the government guidance
of 5% blue badge bays.
The low growth scenario for Leeds peak arrivals being developed by
Network Rail was used to assess market demand (rail growth). These
are fully compliant with Passenger Demand Forecasting Handbook
and have been endorsed by the Department for Transport. The
equivalent annual percentage figure resulting from this scenario was used
to calculate growth in users over the period 2018-2043 for this appraisal
The value for money assessment reflects benefit cost ratio of 2.8:1,
judging the scheme as high value for money when assessed against the
Department for Transports value for money criteria.

Financial Case

The total scheme cost following contractor procurement has been
presented at £778,551, to be funded by the West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund through the Rail Car Park Programme.
Project management fees, as well contractor contingency and a
Combined Authority contingency have been included in the costs.

Management
Case

The scheme business case has been developed by the Combined
Authority project delivery team, with a programme board and governance
arrangements in place, regulated through GRIP (Governance for Railway
Investment Projects).
Commencement of works is expected in March 2020 with scheme
opening anticipated for December 2020.

127

128

Agenda Item 6

Report to:

West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date:

5 February 2020

Subject:

Assurance Framework

Director:

Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery/ Angela Taylor, Director of
Corporate Services

Author(s):

Julia Radianec

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☐ Yes

☒ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government
Act 1972, Part 1:

1.

Purpose of this report
To provide the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee with an update
on progress relating to changes proposed to the Leeds City Region Assurance
Framework arising from its annual review and the Strengthened Local
Enterprise Partnership report (July 2018).
To request the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee to provide
feedback on the updated draft Assurance Framework.

2.

Information

2.1

The LEP has secured Growth Deal funding and the Combined Authority is the
accountable body for the LEP. Therefore, it is essential that there are robust,
transparent and accountable processes in place to ensure value for money for
the public purse.

2.2

As part of the Growth Deal with Government, a local Assurance Framework
was developed in 2015 that covers all funding flowing through the LEP. The
Combined Authority, as the accountable body for the LEP, is also covered by
this framework, which is updated on an annual basis.

129

2.3

The previous local Assurance Framework was approved by the LEP Board in
January 2019 and by the Combined Authority, as the accountable body, in
February 2019. It is the key mechanism to ensure that there are robust
processes in place to support the developing confidence in delegating central
budgets and programmes to the LEP and the Combined Authority. It covers
all significant discretionary projects and programmes funded from Government
or local sources that flow through the LEP and the Combined Authority, and
has been prepared in accordance with HM Government National Local Growth
Assurance Framework guidance (January 2019) and builds on a body of
existing good practice.

2.4

This revised version of the Assurance Framework must be published on the
Local Enterprise Partnership’s website by 28 February 2020. The National
Local Growth Assurance Framework published in January 2019 brought in a
set of new requirements, which were incorporated into the previous review.
The Combined Authority are requested to note that no further update has
been published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government since January 2019. Therefore, the local Assurance Framework
is already compliant with these requirements. This year’s review of the
Assurance Framework was focused on aligning the Framework with the
current working practices of the Combined Authority and the LEP, potential
changes in the LEP’s geography and the introduction of the SEF.

2.5

Additionally, the ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ (2018) report
set out a number of Government commitments alongside a number of
additional changes that Government will work with Local Enterprise
Partnerships to implement. This is being addressed within the National Local
Growth Assurance Framework and has implications for the local Assurance
Framework, both for this review and the review for 2021, relating to the
potential revisions to LEP geography and LEP Board diversity.

2.6

The key changes for the 2020 Assurance Framework review include:
•

Any references to LEP boundaries and relevant maps have been removed
in this version of the Assurance Framework. Further amendments will be
made to reflect the LEP Board’s decision on the revised LEP geography,
including changes in related governance documents and the LEP’ s website
resulting from this prior to publication.

•

References to the Strategic Economic Framework (SEF) and Local
Industrial Strategy (LIS), when relevant, have replaced the references to
the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP).

•

A footnote added in Table 2.1 “Advisory Panels to the LEP and Combined
Authority”, to reflect the current work being undertaken around the
Investment Loans programme. However, due to the early stages in this
development and the lack of clarity around its future governance
arrangements at present, the governance for the Investment Loans
programme has not been covered in this review to date.

130

2.7

•

Sections 5 and 6, “Approach to Prioritisation” and “Assurance around
Programme and Project Delivery”, have been updated with new wording to
reflect updated working practice around project and programme appraisal
and to lessen the focus on the TAG guidance (formerly WebTAG), in order
to take account of new priorities, such as clean growth.

•

Section 7, “Monitoring and Evaluation”, has been updated to clarify the
purpose and requirements of Activities 6 and 7. The “Benefits Realisation”
section has been updated, to spell out the approach to the monitoring of
the progress towards SEF priorities. A new section on monitoring and
evaluation of the SEF has been added.

•

Appendix 4 has been amended to provide that grants greater than
£100,000 but not exceeding £500,000 are to be approved by the Managing
Director (or the Director of Economic Services not exceeding £250,000
only), following a recommendation from the Business Investment Panel.
This raises the threshold at which business grant applications will be
considered by Investment Committee and/or Combined Authority from
£250,000 to £500,000, to increase the pace of decision-making. Additional
amendments to the Appendix reflect changes made to the Managing
Director’s sub-delegation scheme, to speed decision-making.

•

Changes made to Appendix 6 to reflect changes to the Programme
Appraisal Team’s (PAT) terms of reference.

•

References to the Strategic Assessment Review Group (SARG) have been
made and the SARG terms of reference added at Appendix 7. The
Strategic Assessment Review Group (SARG) undertakes the review of
Strategic Assessments submitted to the Combined Authority, as the
accountable body for the Local Enterprise Partnership LEP, at decision
point 1 (DP1) of the assurance process, as set out in the Leeds City
Region Assurance Framework.

•

References to the Portfolio Management Group (PMG) have been added
and the PMG terms of reference have been added at Appendix 8.
The Investment Committee is requested to note that further changes may
need to be made to update the Assurance Framework prior to the
publication, including:

•
•

•
2.8

References made to the LEP geography in the Assurance Framework.
Amendments to the relevant governance documents and the LEP website,
which will need to be updated to reflect the new LEP footprint and LEP
compliance with the diversity requirements of the Strengthened Local
Enterprise Partnerships guidance.
References to the investment loans governance arrangements.

The principles and direction of the revised Assurance Framework were
discussed with the LEP Board on 16 January 2020 and with the Governance
and Audit Committee on 23 January 2020. The Overview and Scrutiny
Committee was notified that the annual review of the Assurance Framework
was taking place and discussed the draft Assurance Framework at their
meeting on 17 January 2020.

131

2.9

The LEP Board approved at the meeting on 16 January 2020 to delegate
authority to the LEP’s Chief Executive (the Managing Director) in consultation
with the LEP Chair and the Combined Authority Chair to approve the Local
Assurance Framework on behalf of the LEP, further to its consideration by the
Combined Authority on 6 February 2020.

2.10

The current working version of the draft Local Assurance Framework can be
found here.
Next Steps

2.11 At the meeting on 6 February 2020, the Combined Authority, as the
accountable body for the LEP, will be requested to approve the substantive
form of the draft Assurance framework subject to the incorporation of any
further feedback and to authorise the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
to finalise the content of the Assurance Framework in consultation with the
Chair of Combined Authority and the Chair of the LEP Board and to submit the
document to Government by 28 February 2020.
2.12

It is the responsibility of the Director of Corporate Services, as the Combined
Authority’s Section 73 Officer (the Chief Finance Officer) to write to HM
Government ahead of the 2020 Local Growth Fund payments to certify that
the Assurance Framework has been agreed, is being implemented, and meets
the standards set out in the National Framework.

2.13

In line with the continuous improvements to processes over the coming year, it
is envisaged that further changes will need to be made to the Assurance
Framework in 2020, in order to ensure that it is as efficient as possible –
particularly given the variability in the scale and complexity of projects and
programmes. Such a review will ensure that, going forward, the right level of
proportionality is applied to different types of programme. These future
changes will also incorporate amendments to reflect any future updates to
guidance, as well as the feedback from the ‘Annual Conversation’ with
Government.

2.14

Subject to further changes being required, an update to the Assurance
Framework will be brought to the LEP Board and the Combined Authority on
an annual basis.

3.

Clean Growth Implications

3.1

Clean growth considerations and references to related activities have been
embedded throughout the Assurance Framework and related internal
governance documents and decision-making procedures. Building on the
recent work to strengthen how clean growth and climate change impacts are
considered as part of all new schemes that come through the Combined
Authority’s Assurance Framework (Decision point 1 and 2), the Combined
Authority are now in the process of procuring expert advice to frame and
develop a robust quantifiable methodology for assessing all new scheme’s

132

predicted carbon emissions / wider clean growth impacts. Clean growth,
including climate change, impact assessment / considerations are all now
included in all Capital Spending and Project Approvals reports.
4.

Inclusive Growth Implications

4.1

There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this report.

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

The annual update to the Local Assurance Framework is required in order to
remain compliant with government documentation. Failure to do this may
result in future growth deal funding being compromised.

6.

Legal Implications

6.1

The annual update to the Local Assurance Framework is in response to
government requirements as set out above.

7.

Staffing Implications

7.1

The annual update to the Local Assurance Framework is being accommodated
within existing staff resources within the Combined Authority.

8.

External Consultees

8.1

The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has
provided informal feedback on the draft Local Assurance Framework.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

The West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee is requested to:
(i)

Note the changes that have been made to the Local Assurance
Framework, as set out in this report.

(ii)

Approve the substantive form of the draft updated Assurance Framework
document and provide feedback regarding any final changes.

10.

Background Documents

10.1

The National Local Growth Assurance Framework (2019)

10.2

Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships (2018)

11.

Appendices

11.1

None.

133

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Report to:

West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date:

5th February 2020

Subject:

European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) – Sustainable
Urban Development (SUD)

Director:

Angela Taylor, Director of Corporate Services

Author(s):

Heather Waddington

Is this a key decision?

☐ Yes

☒ No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny?

☒ Yes

☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

☒ Yes

☐ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government
Act 1972, Part 1:

Para 3

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To reconsider an outline application for selection as part of the SUD ESIF
Programme, as delegated by the Combined Authority, in its role as the
Intermediate Body (IB).

2.

Information

2.1

On 8 March 2017, the Investment Committee considered and noted the roles
and responsibilities relating to Intermediate Body (IB) status delegated to West
Yorkshire Combined Authority in order to deliver the SUD Strategy, part of the
ESIF Programme.

2.2

The Committee, in its advisory role, provided advice on the first draft SUD Call
at its meeting in June 2017, which was subsequently agreed by the Combined
Authority, at the 29 June 2017 meeting, for it to be published July 2017 by the
Managing Authority (MA), Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG).

2.3

The Combined Authority has since selected projects to progress to full
application stage. Round 1 resulted in only one project progressing to full
application stage, due to a high attrition rate. This project is now contracted.

135

2.4

A round 2 call for projects was subsequently republished June 2018 closing
July 2018. Round 2 resulted in four out of eight projects progressing to full
application stage, due to a high attrition rate. All projects are now in the
contracting phase.

2.5

As funding was still available a Round 3 call was published January 2019,
closing February 2019. One outline application was received which was
considered by the Combined Authority, as Intermediate Body, in April 2019
and was selected to progress to full application. This full application is now in
appraisal and will be presented to the Investment Committee for advice in due
course.

2.4

Given there was a poor response to the Round 3 call, a further Round 4 call
was published April 2019 closing June 2019. The two outline applications
received were presented to the Investment Committee for advice at its
meeting in September 2019 and selected by the Combined Authority at its
meeting on the 10th October 2019. Following a further review by the MA one
of the outline applications has now been rejected on the grounds that it did not
meet the value for money and deliverability assessment criteria.

2.5

As funding was still available a Round 5 call was published 31 July 2019 and
closed 31 October 2019. The call value was for £6.8 million. The two outline
applications received were presented to the Investment Committee for advice
at its meeting in 4 December 2019 and presented to the Combined Authority
at its meeting on the 9th January 2020. Only one of the outlines was selected
with the other referred back to the Investment Committee for further
consideration.

2.6

The assessment of the outline application is attached to this report as Exempt
Appendix 2 together with further information in a covering note (Exempt
Appendix 1). The Investment Committee is requested to further consider the
revised content of the outline assessment in order to advise the Managing
Authority to whether it should progress to full application.

2.7

Given funding still remains a further Round 6 Call will be published in January
2020. Funding pipeline is as outlined below;
SUD Call
Round

PA3 (SME
Competiveness)

2017 - Round 1

£636,065

2018 - Round 2

£1,954,380

PA5
PA6 (Green /
(Climate
Blue
Change Infrastructure)
Flooding)

£636,065
£3,884,801

2019 - Round 3
2019 - Round 4

£1,867,776

2019 - Round 5

£1,011,583

136

Total ERDF
sought

£1,472,633

£1,555,060

£7,394,241

£737,500

£737,500

£0

£1,867,776
£2,484,216

Value of
Pipeline
Total
Allocation
Remaining
allocation –
Round 6 Call
2.8

£5,469,804

£5,357,434

£2,292,560

£13,119,798

£6,360,135

£5,300,564

£6,360,135

£18,020,835

£890,331

-£56,870

£4,067,575

£4,901,037

If any funding remains uncommitted once the call closes, expected to be April
2020, then this money will be moved in to the new national Reserve Fund, set
up by MHCLG to manage the remaining ERDF funding across the England
programme as well as manage exchange rate fluctuations.

Selection process and the outline assessment form
2.9

The selection process for SUD, part of the ESIF programme, has been set out
in guidance notes issued to the IB by MHCLG, as the MA.

2.10

The IB has assessed the outline application for local strategic fit based on the
Leeds City Region ESIF SUD Strategy. In considering the strategic fit a
qualitative approach has been used to assess the following to come to an
overall view:



2.11

Value for money – the operation must represent value for money. In assessing
value for money, the MA takes account of:





2.12

Does the proposed operation contribute to the needs/opportunities
identified in the Call to which it is responding?
Does the proposed operation align to the local growth needs set out in the
local ESIF (SUD) Strategy?

efficiency: the rate/unit costs at which the operation converts inputs to the
fund outputs;
economy: the extent to which the operation will ensure that inputs to the
operation are at the minimum costs commensurate with the required
quality;
effectiveness: the extent to which the operation contributes to programme
output targets, results and/or significant strategic impact at the local level;
that the investment will deliver activities and impacts that would not
otherwise take place.

Deliverability



The operation is deliverable within the requirements of the fund specific
operational programme taking into account risks, constraints and
dependencies.
Evidence has shown that this type of operation is effective, the risks have
been considered and appropriate mitigations put in place.

137

2.11.3 Outline assessment forms are designed and owned by MHCLG. The
Assessment form is split into five sections and each completed by either the IB
or the MA as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
2.12

Part 1, summary project details - completed by MHCLG
Part 2, the gateway assessment - completed by MHCLG
Part 3, the IB’s assessment - completed by the Combined Authority
Part 4, the MA’s assessment - completed by MHCLG
Part 5, selection decision - completed by the Combined Authority (5a)
and MHCLG (5b).

Following the Investment Committee’s advice, the IB will finalise its
assessment and advice to the MA and make its selection decision and forward
the form to the MA, who will then finalise its assessment (taking account of the
advice provided by the IB), and make its selection decision.
Undertaking the assessment

2.13

In line with the agreed IB Conflict of Interest Statement and Operating Protocol
the application has been considered by the appraisal team, under the
responsibility of the Head of Research and Intelligence from the Combined
Authority, who have undertaken their own assessment in line with the criteria
outlined above. Their findings are presented to the Committee at the meeting.
In addition to officers from the appraisal team the MA will also be in
attendance and can respond to questions raised by members regarding the
assessment as required.

3.

Financial Implications

3.1

MHCLG, as MA for the funds, is responsible for the issuing of funding
agreements, paying projects and general contract management. The funding
within the Strategy (€19.95 million) is a notional budget and is part of the ESIF
ERDF programme. All finances go directly through MHCLG’s accounts not the
Combined Authority’s.

4.

Legal Implications

4.1

The information contained in Appendix 1-2 is exempt under paragraph 3 of
Part 1 to Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as it contains
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information). It is considered that the
public interest in maintaining the content of the appendices as exempt
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information as publication could
prejudice current and future decision making.

5.

Staffing Implications

5.1

There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

138

6.

External Consultees

6.1

MHCLG have been consulted in their role as Managing Authority in the
production of this report.

7.

Recommendations

7.1

It is recommended that the Investment Committee further consider the outline
application which includes the advice provided by the IB at its meeting on the
9 January 2020, in order to recommend to the Managing Authority whether it
should progress to full application, in its role as the Intermediate Body.

8.

Background Documents

8.1

None.

9.

Appendices

9.1

Exempt Appendices 1 - 2:
Exempt Appendix 1 - Summary FINAL
Exempt Appendix 2 - Erringden Hillside: Flood Alleviation Scheme OA FINAL

139

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Appendix 1

Document is Restricted

141

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Appendix 2

Document is Restricted

143

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL HELD ON TUESDAY, 3 DECEMBER
2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A - WELLINGTON HOUSE, LEEDS

Present:
Simon Wright (Deputy Chair)
Councillor Jane Scullion
Councillor Peter McBride
Colin Glass OBE
Jonathan King
Gareth Yates

Yorkshire Bank
Calderdale Council
Kirklees Council
WGN
Medusa Holdings Ltd
Ward Hadaway

In attendance:
Simon Middleton
Carl Wright
Phil Cole
Vincent McCabe
Neill Fishman
Lorna Holroyd
Lauren Thomas
Janette Woodcock
36.

City of York Council
Clive Owen
Leeds City Council
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Apologies for absence
In the absence of Councillor Judith Blake, the meeting was chaired by Simon
Wright.
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Judith Blake, Councillor
Shabir Pandor, Councillor Darren Byford, Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw,
Councillor Graham Swift, Michael Allen and Marcus Mills.

37.

Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests
There were no items of disclosable pecuniary interests declared at the
meeting.

38.

Exempt information - Exclusion of the press and public
Resolved: That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of Appendices 1 and 2 to Agenda item 5 and Appendices

145

1,2 and 3 to Agenda item 6 on the grounds that they are likely, in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if
members of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceeds, that if
members of the press and public were present there would be disclosure to
them of exempt information and for the reasons set out in the report that in all
the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
39.

Minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held on 7
November 2019
That the minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 7 November 2019
be approved and signed by the Chair.

40.

Strategic Inward Investment Fund update
The Panel considered a report which outlined the current position regarding
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Enterprise Partnership
(the LEP) Strategic Inward Investment Fund (SIF).
The Panel considered the new grant application outlined in paragraph 3.1 and
detailed in exempt Appendices 1 and 2.
Resolved:

41.

(i)

That the SIF Progress report be noted.

(ii)

That the grant application outlined in paragraph 3.1 and detailed in
exempt Appendices 1 and 2 be recommended for approval.

Business Growth Programme
The Panel considered a report to outline the current position regarding
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Enterprise (the LEP)
Business Growth Programme (BGP)
Panel members considered the applications outlined in 3.1 and detailed in
exempted Appendices 1 and 2 and was asked to note the update on
previously approved projects as outlined in 4.3 and attached at exempt
Appendix 3.
Resolved:

42.

(i)

That the progress report be noted.

(ii)

That the grant applications detailed in 3.1 and attached at exempt
Appendices 1 and 2 be recommended for approval.

(iii)

That the update on previously approved projects as outlined in 5.1 and
attached at exempt Appendix 3 be noted.

Date of next meeting

146

The next meeting will be held on the 5 February.

147

This page is intentionally left blank

